
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Local Pension Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 15 February 2019 at 9.30 am 

Location: Guthlaxton Committee Room - County Hall 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
Item  Report By  Marked 

 
1.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 
2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 8) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Protecting Shareholder Value - The Role of the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum.  
 

 
 

 

 There will be a presentation for this item. 

 
 

7.  
  

Summary Valuation of Pension Fund 
Investments and Performance of Individual 
Managers.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 9 - 36) 

8.  
  

Draft Funding Strategy Statement.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 37 – 78) 

9.  
  

Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) Consultation - Asset 

Director of 
Corporate 

(Pages 79 - 86) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.facebook.com/LeicsDemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy


Pooling  
 

Resources 
 

10.  
  

LGPS Central Pooling Update.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 87 - 90) 

11.  
  

Risk Management and Internal Controls.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 91 - 
102) 

12.  
  

Market Report - For Information  
 

Kames Capital 
 

(Pages 103 - 
112) 
 

13.  
  

Investment Subcommittee Meeting Dates.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 113 - 
114) 

14.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

15.  
  

Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 

 
 

 

 The public are likely to be excluded during consideration of the 
remaining items in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (Exempt Information). 
 

 

16.  
  

Kempen Capital Management Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

17.  
  

Pictet Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

18.  
  

Ruffer Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

19.  
  

IFM Investors Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

20.  
  

JP Morgan Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

21.  
  

Kleinwort Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

22.  
  

Delaware Investments Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

23.  
  

Kames Capital Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

24.  
  

Millennium Global Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

25.  
  

Ashmore Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

26.  
  

Legal and General Investment Manager 
Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

27.  
  

Stafford Timberland Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

28.  
  

Aspect Capital Quarterly Report  
 

Fund Manager 
 

 

29.  
  

LaSalle (Formerly Aviva) - Quarterly Report.  
 

Fund Manager 
 
 
 
 
 

 



TO: 
   

Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. P. C. Osborne CC (Chairman) 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
 
 
Leicester City Council 
 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Cllr Deepak Bajaj and Cllr Dr Lynn Moore 
 

 

District Council Representatives 
 
Cllr Chris Frost and Cllr. Malise Graham MBE 
 
University Representative  
 

 

Dr P. Cross  
  
 

 

 

Staff Representatives  
  
Mr. R. Bone 
Mr. N. Booth 
 

Ms. J. Dean 
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Local Pension Committee held at County Hall, 
Glenfield on Friday, 25 January 2019.  
   

PRESENT: 
Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. P. C. Osborne CC (Chairman) 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
 
 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Leicester City Council 
Cllr L. Moore 

 

  
District Council Representative 
Cllr. Malise Graham MBE 
  
Staff Representatives  
  
Mr. R. Bone 
Mr. N. Booth 
 

Ms. J. Dean 
 

 
  
 

232. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9th November 2018 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

233. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

234. Questions asked by members.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

235. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

236. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. No declarations were made. 
 
 

5 Agenda Item 1



237. Independent Investment Advisor Scott Jamieson 
 
The Chairman reported that Scott Jamieson Independent Investment Manager had now 
retired. On behalf of the Local Pension Committee he thanked Scott for all his work for 
the Leicestershire Pension Fund. 
 
 

238. Annual Review of the Asset Strategy and Structure.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which was 
accompanied by appendices produced by the Fund’s Independent Investment Advisor 
and Investment Consultants Hymans Robertson. The report recommended a small 
number of changes to the Leicestershire Fund’s strategic investment benchmark and 
portfolio structure. A copy of the report and appendices marked ‘6’ are filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following points were noted: 
 

i) The proposed changes to the Fund’s strategic benchmark would improve the 
overall structure of the portfolio. The main proposal would see an increase in the 
strategic allocation to credit from 10% to 12.5%. This would be funded from the 
targeted return allocation, maintaining the Fund’s current target return at 
CPI+3.4%; 

 
ii) As opportunity pool investments came to their conclusion, consideration would 

need to be given as to where to allocate these assets. It was noted that there was 
ongoing consultation on statutory guidance for LGPS Funds which were expected 
to stipulate that from 2020 all new investments would have to be acquired through 
the pool. It was therefore proposed that whist the Fund would maintain its existing 
opportunity pool investments, and look to continue to keep its target weighting in 
distressed debt until such time statutory pooling took effect ,  it would work with 
LGPS Central for new investments;    
 

iii) Work was ongoing by LGPS Central to enable partner funds to begin investing into 
the Pool. It was noted that the initial development work  had been slow to due to 
the resource required to achieve consensus across the funds,  but the first sub 
fund (Global Equity) of which the Leicestershire Fund would invest in, was due to 
be available  from February 2019;  
 

iv) Whilst LGPS Central developed its various sub-fund vehicles, Leicestershire would 
retain many of its existing investments. The Investment Subcommittee would 
assess the appropriateness of each sub-fund relative to the Fund’s current 
investment strategy and objectives prior to investment;  
 

v) LGPS Central had a responsible investment policy which the Local Pension 
Committee had previously approved. The Pool intended to use its shareholding 
position to actively engage with companies it invested in to encourage them to 
consider environmental, social and corporate governance factors closely. 
 

vi) The Fund’s Private equity exposure with Adams Street Partners was held through 
closed-ended funds and would continue to do so until such time when a similar 
offering was available through the Pool; Officers would continue to work closely 
with LGPS Central to ensure their sub-fund offering aligned to Leicestershire’s 
investment strategy. 
 

6



vii) The date of the triennial valuation of the Fund of the 29 March 2019 coincided with 
the current date the UK was expected to leave the EU. It was noted that the 
actuaries conducting the Fund’s valuation would be expected to take into account 
the potential market volatility when producing their assumptions. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the revised strategic benchmark for the Fund as shown on page 25 of 
Appendix A of the report be approved; 
 

b) That the Investment Subcommittee be asked to consider over the course of 2019 
the product launches by LGPS Central and the appropriate commitments to be 
made by the fund, including the investments to divest; 
 

c) That the Investment Subcommittee review the structure of the Fund’s currency 
hedging programme and how best to implement the hedge post pooling; 
 

d) That the Investment Subcommittee review and distressed debt opportunities that 
may arise; 
 

e) That the current notional exposure to the Millennium currency overlay be 
maintained at £340 million. 

 
 

239. Date of next meeting  
 
The date of the next meeting would be 15th February 2019. 
 

 CHAIRMAN 
25 January 2019 

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 15 FEBRUARY 2019 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
SUMMARY VALUATION OF PENSION FUND INVESTMENTS AND 

INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE OF INDIVIDUAL MANAGERS 
 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1.   The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee, an update on the 

investment markets and how individual asset classes are performing, a summary 
valuation of the Fund's investments at 31st Dec 2018 (attached as an appendix to 
this report), together with figures showing the performance of individual managers 
and a funding position from the funds actuary.   

 
Market Outlook and Performance  
 
2.   An update on asset classes and performance is provided by LGPS Central in 

Appendix B.  The view is that European equities are becoming more attractive and 
Global Equity Market’s (GEM’s) are losing attractiveness.  The recession risk has 
increased from low to medium based on rising interest rates, prolonged US growth 
phase and weakening economic forecasts. A view is also presented on how the 
market outlook impacts strategic asset allocations. 

 
Summary Valuation 
 
3. The total market value of investments at 31st December 2018 was £4,078.4m 

compared to £4,226.1m at 30th September 2018, a decrease of £147.7m. In the 
three month period non-investment related net cash inflows amounting to £7.4m 
were received.  After adjusting for non-investment related cash flows the Fund 
value decreased by £155m, or 3.7%, due to changes in the value of investments. 

 
4. The total returns of various indices since 30th September 2018 were as follows:- 
 

 Local 
Currency 

% 

Converted to 
Sterling 

% 

Return with 
50% hedge 

% 

UK Gilts +1.9 +1.9 +1.9 

UK Index-Linked +1.9 +1.9 +1.9 

UK Equities -10.0 -10.0 -10.0 

North American Equities -13.4 -11.8 -12.6 

European Equities -11.8 -10.9 -11.4 

Japanese Equities -17.4 -12.4 -14.9 

Pacific (Ex Japan) Equities -8.6 -7.6 -8.1 
 

 
 

9 Agenda Item 7



 
5. The current split of investments over sectors is as follows:- 

 
 

 31st December 2018 30th September 
2018 

 £m % % 

UK Equities 285.9  7.0  7.6  

Overseas Equities 1,461.4  35.8  39.3  

Targeted 
Return/Credit/Opportunity Pool 1,006.4  24.7  23.6  

Private Equity 202.3  5.0  4.1  

Property 399.7  9.8  9.2  

Cash 82.9  2.0  1.4  

Inflation-Linked Assets 644.8  15.8  14.8  

Active and Passive Currency (5.0) (0.1) (0.0) 

 4,078.4      

 
 

6. The investment performance of the individual managers is presented in the tables 
below, over various periods. For most managers the benchmark performance 
quoted is based on indices, for targeted return managers the benchmark is cash + 
4% p.a. and for Millennium the benchmark is 1.5% p.a.  
 
3 months 

 Manager/Portfolio Actual (%) B/mark(%) Relative (%) 

Ashmore (emerging market debt)  +0.1 +0.2 -0.1 

Aspect Capital (managed futures)  -12.3 +1.2 -13.5 

Aviva Investors (property)  +0.9 +0.9 0.0 

Delaware (emerging market equities)  -4.2 -5.3 +1.1 

Kempen (equity dividend)  -6.8 -11.3 +4.5 

Kleinwort Benson (equity dividend)  -10.5 -10.6 +0.1 

Legal & General (passive global equities) -10.5 -10.5 0.0 

Millennium (currency)  -0.7 +1.5 -2.2 

Pictet (targeted return)  -6.3 +1.2 -7.5 

Ruffer (targeted return)  -4.2 +1.2 -5.4 

   
 
 One year  

Manager/Portfolio Actual (%) B/mark(%) Relative (%) 

Ashmore (emerging market debt)  -4.0 -4.5 +0.5 

Aspect Capital (managed futures)  -16.6 +4.6 -21.2 

Aviva Investors (property)  +7.3 +6.5 +0.8 

Delaware (emerging market equities)  -7.8 -9.3 +1.5 

Kempen (equity dividend)  -3.9 -3.0 -0.9 

Kleinwort Benson (equity dividend)  -6.3 -3.8 -2.5 

Legal & General (passive global equities) -5.9 -5.9 -0.0 

Millennium (currency)  -0.6 +1.5 -2.1 

Pictet (targeted return)  -6.2 +4.6 -10.8 

Ruffer (targeted return)  -4.7 +4.6 -9.3 

 
 
 
 

10



Three years (performance per annum) 

 Manager/Portfolio Actual (%) B/mark(%) Relative (%) 

Ashmore (emerging market Debt) +9.3 +5.0 +4.3 

Aspect Capital (managed futures)  -7.6 +4.4 -12.0 

Aviva Investors (property)  +7.3 +6.4 +0.9 

Delaware (emerging market equities)  +18.5 +14.7 +3.8 

Kempen (equity dividend)  +13.9 +11.6 +2.3 

Kleinwort Benson (equity dividend)  +11.2 +11.9 -0.7 

Legal & General (passive global equities) +10.9 +10.9 -0.0 

Millennium (currency)  -0.9 +1.5 -2.4 

Pictet (targeted return) +3.5 +4.4 -0.9 

Ruffer (targeted return)  +3.3 +4.4 -1.1 

 
Five years (performance per annum) 

 Manager/Portfolio Actual (%) B/mark(%) Relative (%) 

Ashmore (emerging market debt)  +3.7 +2.0 +1.8 

Aspect Capital (managed futures)  +2.6 +4.5 -1.9 

Aviva Investors (property)  +10.9 +9.7 +1.2 

Delaware (emerging market equities)  +8.3 +7.1 +1.2 

Kempen (Equity Dividend) +9.8 +10.2 -0.4 

Kleinwort Benson (equity dividend)  +8.9 +9.9 -1.0 

Legal & General (passive global equities)  +8.5 +8.5 -0.0 

Millennium (currency)  +0.5 +1.5 -1.0 

Ruffer (targeted return)  +3.7 +4.5 -0.8 

 
Funding Update 
 
7. The latest funding update, from the fund’s actuary, is attached in Appendix C. This 

report compares the current funding position for Leicestershire against the 
liabilities to be paid and shows what proportion of the fund is funded.  The funding 
level has reduced in the quarter from 82% to 77%. This is predominately driven by 
the fall in asset values (c.-4%) when an increase (c.1%) would normally be 
expected 

 
Recommendation 
 
The Local Pension Committee is asked to note the report and that the Hymans Funding 
Update is to be provided to the committee twice per year. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A -Summary Valuation of Funds performance  
 
Appendix B - Report of LGPS Central Limited – Strategic Asset Allocation (Market outlook 
and Performance).  
  
Appendix C - Funding Update from the Fund Actuary Hymans Robertson 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
10.      None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 

11



Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk  

12



Appendix A 
 
 
 
 

 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION 

ISSUE 4        DECEMBER 2018 

FOR PROFESSIONAL 
CLIENTS ONLY 

Cover photo https://pixabay.com/en/skyscraper-singapore-sky-blue-3184798/ 

15

ctuohy
Typewritten Text
Appendix B  



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

2 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

This is the fourth edition of the LGPS Central Limited strategic asset allocation report which is issued on a quarterly basis 
to help the Partner Funds form a view on how they may adjust their medium-term strategic asset allocations to the 
current market environment and to identify return opportunities for meeting future liabilities.  
 
This issue contains a “Themed Paper” on “Private Equity” written by Omar Ghafur, LGPS Central’s Investment Director 
for Private Equity. The report to update on Responsible Investing and Engagement will be circulate in an updated version.  
There is a summary of market activity during the last quarter of 2018 on page 7 and we also have included a special chart 
on page 8, summarising the financial market of 2018. 

Our view on asset classes remains broadly unchanged compared to the previous quarter, the biggest changes seen in 
equities with European equities becoming more attractive and GEMs losing attractiveness, which is mainly based on 
valuation in equities becoming more attractive, but still not being cheap. We have increased the risk of an equity sell off 
to moderate based on the events in Q4 2018 as we believe that this downward trend could carry on in the rising interest 
rate and trade war environment. We also have increased the recession risk from low to medium based on the latter as 
well as the prolonged US growth phase and weakening economic forecasts. 

We would like to encourage all Partner Funds to contact the Head of Client Services and Stakeholder Relations, myself 
or any of the Investment Directors if they wish to discuss any part of this report or LGPS Central Limited’s thoughts in 
more detail (contact details can be found at the end of the document).  We would welcome any feedback on the report.  
 
Jason Fletcher CIO 

CIO SUMMARY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED’S VIEW ON WEIGHTINGS 
The following table gives a summary of our view on strategic positioning against your customised benchmark. 
Table1: Weightings 

 
Significant Underweight Underweight Neutral Overweight 

Significant 
Overweight 

BROAD ASSET 
CLASS  Stabilising Growth Income  

GROWTH 
ASSET CLASS  

Private Equity, 
North America, 

Equities 

Asia Pac Equites, 
 Japan Equities 

EU Equities, 
UK Equities, 

Commodities, 
 GEM Equities 

 

INCOME 
ASSETS 

   

Insurance-Linked, 
Infrastructure, 

Property, 
 EM Debt, 

Credit 

 

STABILISING 
ASSETS 

EU Bonds, 
JP Bonds 

UK Bonds, 
 Index-Linked 

 

IG Bonds, 
 US Bonds 

Gold  

INVESTMENT 
STYLES 

 Low Volatility, 
 Size 

Quality/ESG Momentum Value, 
Growth 

CURRENCIES 
 

 US dollar 
Euro, 
 Yen 

GBP  

 

 

 

 

 

BROAD ASSET CLASSES 
 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Weightings”: 
 LGPS Central Limited remains “Underweight” in Stabilising Assets and “Overweight” in Income Assets.  

Growth Assets remain “Neutral”. Cheap valued Growth Assets with good economic outlook and valuation 
remain attractive.  

 Equities are the most favoured of the Growth Assets but has seen some changes in terms of regional 
favourites. Our favoured equities remain UK, but now also include Europe and GEMs change from strong 
favourites to medium favourites, all changes mainly related to sentiment changes. 

 There are only small changes to observe within our preferences in Stabilising and Income Assets. 

16



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

3 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

Source: Bloomberg Note: listed proxies have been used for Infrastructure, Property and Private Equity 

Source: Bloomberg (NB: assumes dividends were reinvested),  Note: listed proxies have been used for Infrastructure, Property and Private Equity. 

 

Table 2: Growth/Income/Stabilising Assets  
 

Model Score1 View Investment Notes 

GROWTH 0 Neutral 
Valuations have improved since last quarter, but sentiment worsen, 
e.g. inflation is positive, volatility environment changed to high and 

selectively good return opportunities expected 

INCOME 1 Overweight 
Safe Income, relative valuation, downside protection and positive 

sentiment 

STABILISING -1 Underweight 
Low/Negative expected return, small portfolio allocation, inflation 
risk if not index-linked, uncertainty around economic growth and 

expensive 
 
Table 3: Historical Annualised Returns 

 
One year Three years Five years Ten years Twenty years Bloomberg Ticker 

GLOBAL EQUITIES -10.1% 7.0% 5.0% 9.8% 4.4% FTAW01 Index 
PRIVATE EQUITY -8.3% 12.4% 8.5% 14.2% n/a IPRV LN Index 
PROPERTY -3.6% 4.3% 8.3% 12.8% 10.0% REIT INDEX 
INFRASTRUCTURE -9.8% 6.9% 4.4% 7.4% n/a SPGTIND Index 
HIGH YIELD -1.7% 5.4% 5.4% 16.8% 9.8% HL00 Index 
UK GILTS 1.5% 4.3% 5.5% 4.8% 5.1% G0L0 Index 
UK INDEX-LINKED 0.8% 8.5% 8.6% 7.9% 6.5% G0LI Index 
GOLD 1.5% 11.6% 6.9% 5.3% 9.3% XAUGBP Index 

 
 
Table 4: Correlation Matrix (5 year historical correlation) 

 FTSE All 
World AW 

TR GBP 

iShares 
Listed 

Private 
DJ REIT 

S&P 
Global 
Infra 

Sterling 
High-Yield UK Gilt UK Inf-Link 

Gilt 
XAUGBP 

Index 

GLOBAL EQUITIES 1 0.648 0.546 0.769 0.474 -0.238 -0.136 -0.26 

PRIVATE EQUITY   1 0.344 0.475 0.385 -0.176 -0.095 0.004 

PROPERTY   0.815 1 0.665 0.209 0.248 0.207 0.047 

INFRASTRUCTURE   0.033 0.029 1 0.413 0.039 0.073 -0.018 

HIGH YIELD 0.778 0.058 0.082 0.418 1 0.010 0.016 -0.158 

UK GILTS 0.617 -0.16 -0.09 0.353 0.455 1 0.822 0.407 

UK INDEX-LINKED 0.525 0.267 0.203 0.218 0.657 0.31 1 0.358 

GOLD -0.231 0.407 0.349 -0.11 0.004 0.05 0.085 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

                                                             
1 Refers to LGPS Central Limited model as described on page 6 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Broad Asset Classes”: 
 LGPS Central Limited currently favours Income over Stabilising Assets over the next 12 months due to their 

relative value, and stable cash flows with low correlation to Growth Assets. 
 The sharp equity market fall in Q4 has pushed annual equity returns into negative territory. Most asset 

classes have seen good returns above inflation over the last three, five, ten and twenty years.  
 Commodities and Gold provide good diversification against equity markets and could be added as a 

diversifier to the portfolio.  
 Fixed Income can be allocated to the portfolio for the same reason, but we remain underweight, given its 

poor valuation, low expected returns and the unsupportive economic environment. 
 

17



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

4 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

GROWTH ASSET VIEW 
Table 5: Growth Assets 

 
Model Score1 View Investment Notes 

UK 2 Overweight 
Positive sentiment and cheap valuation, but economic and political 

risks leave an environment of uncertainty 

NORTH AMERICA -1 Underweight 
Improved valuations as looks cheaper now, but still expensive 

compared to other geographies, negative market risk and 
sentiment  

EUROPE 2 Overweight 
Neutral economics and good dividend yields, attractive valuations, 
and sentiment has turned positive, but economic outlook remains 

unstable 

JAPAN 0 Neutral 
Slow growth, trade risks, reasonable valuation but over loved asset 

class 

ASIA PAC 0 Neutral 
Economic growth and good valuation, looks cheap, but fears of 

trade war may overshadow the potential 

GEMs 1 Overweight 
Economic growth and good valuation, has seen biggest regional 
buy in between quarters, but fears of trade war and political risk 

may have negative impact, weak dollar would support returns 

PRIVATE EQUITY -1 Underweight 
High investment cost, sentiment negative, long-term economic 
outlook uncertain, selective positioning, better valuation due to 

recent equity market falls  

COMMODITIES 1 Overweight 
Economic growth weakening and inflation protection, but provides 

no yield 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
INCOME ASSET VIEW 
Table 6: Income Assets 

 
Model Score1 View Investment Notes 

CREDIT 2 Overweight Economic play, credit improving, and positive valuation  

EMERGING MARKET 
DEBT 2 Overweight 

Economic play, credit improving, valuation positive, but 
some market risk and poor EM performance last year 

PROPERTY 1 Overweight 
Relative value, inflation protection, sentiment changed to 

negative and high investment costs 

INFRASTRUCTURE 1 Overweight Relative value, inflation protection, positive sentiment but 
high investment costs, renewables & sustainable exposure 

INSURANCE-LINKED 1 Overweight 
Great time to buy after hurricane season, high expected 
returns, “unloved”, uncorrelated with other asset classes 

 

 

 

 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Growth Assets”: 
 US equity valuation looking slightly cheaper, but we remain “Underweight” based on negative sentiment, 

recent increased volatility and a declining economic outlook.  
 GEMs remain “Overweight” due to economic growth potential (Brazil & China economic outlook versus 

world), cheap valuations and negative 2018 performance, but GEMS has seen a big buy in by Investors from 
Q3 to Q4 and hence sentiment reduces strength of “Overweight”. 

 Europe changes from “Underweight” to “Overweight”, based on attractive looking valuations and 
sentiment, but remain cautious due to the economic outlook. 

 Most equity market valuation have moved away from expensive in recent declines. 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Income Assets”: 
 LGPS Central Limited has a favourable view on Income Assets. 
 Emerging market debt has a lot of potential in LGPS Central Limited’s view, in particular given the poor 

performance of EM markets LTM and recent equity market performance.  
 Infrastructure assets offer a great responsible investing component.  
 Credit and EM Debt lost 1 model score point due to increased market risk. 

18



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

5 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

STABILISING ASSET VIEW 
Table 7: Stabilising Assets 

 
Model Score1 View Investment Notes 

UK BONDS -2 Underweight 
Negative expected return, inflation risk, economic growth 

faltering and political risk 

INDEX-LINKED -2 Underweight 
Negative expected return, inflation risk and concern about 

long duration/interest rates 

US BONDS 0 Neutral 
Fair value but increasing deficit and quantitative tightening, 
inflation risk and economic growth potentially overheating 

JP BONDS -3 Underweight 
Poor valuation and Central Bank policy supportive market, 

but a safe haven in increased risk environment 

EU BONDS -3 Underweight 
Negative expected return, inflation risk, economic growth 

vulnerable due to political EU uncertainty and EU bank debt 
issue 

IG CORPORATE BONDS 0 Neutral 
Corp spreads neutral and anchored to government bond 

yields, but general good credit outlook 

GOLD 2 Overweight 
Favoured Stabilising Asset, when we do not like other 

Stabilising Assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 
INVESTMENT FACTORS (EQUITIES) 
Factor based investing provides a way of potentially adding outperformance of a market cap-based approach at a 
much lower cost than active investing. It recognises that the market cap-based index does not provide the best risk 
adjusted return for a portfolio given its natural overweight in momentum, large cap bias and expensive stocks. In the 
following Factor model, we have taken the 7 factors of value, growth, income growth, size (small cap), ESG, low 
volatility and momentum and then applied the same criteria we use to consider other asset classes in our model 
assessing each factor for valuation, sentiment, economic suitability, risk suitability, investment cost and currency. 
Investment cost in factor-based investing is low relative to the other asset classes, though momentum factors given 
their higher turnover and ESG factors given their higher index costs are both scored neutral. Given all strategies are 
global the currency scores are all neutral. Note that ESG and quality share similar characteristics. Below graph 
summarise preferred overweight factor depending on economic cycle. 
 

Economic Cycles and Investment Factors: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Stabilising Assets”: 
 LGPS Central Limited has an “Underweight” view for most Stabilising Assets mainly based on the 

low/negative yields but recognises that they should represent a proportion of the portfolio given the 
downside protection they can offer. 

 “Underweight” view has slightly worsened due to more expensive looking valuations, in particular for Japan 
and Europe. 

 Gold offers good diversification and a safe haven in turbulent markets and protects against political and 
economic risks.  

 

Boom Slowdown Recession Recovery 

Positive 
economic 
growth 

Negative 
economic 
growth Value 

Momentum 
Low Size 

Quality/ESG 
Low Volatility 

 
Value 
Momentum 
Low Size 

Quality/ESG 
Low Volatility 

19



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

6 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

Table 8: Investment Factors 
 

Model Score1 View Investment Notes 

Value 4 Overweight 
Supported by current economic growth environment and general 
underperformance, after recent equity falls valuation looks even 

more attractive 

Growth 3 Overweight 
 Supported by current economic growth environment. Recent 

strong outperformance might be impacted if the economy slows 
down 

Size -2  Underweight 
Concern with slowing economy and negative sentiment and market 

risk 

Momentum 2 Overweight 
Overweight based on current attractive valuation, however has 

recently outperformed other factors  

Low Volatility -2 Underweight Poor long-term performance and unsupportive economic 
environment  

Quality/ESG 0 Neutral Positioning in light of potential economic slowdown   

 

 
LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED SCORING MODEL 
LGPS Central Limited’s model scores each asset class against its valuation, sentiment, economic outlook, market 
risk, currency and investment cost (scored between -2 and +2). Positive scores suggest (strong) overweight and 
negative scores, (strong) underweight positions. Where a zero is assigned our view is neutral. The scores for the 
different assessment areas, e.g. valuation, sentiment etc. are then added to derive the final score for that asset class. 
We are constantly developing this scoring to include other variables such as ESG measures and technical factors, as 
well as currencies.  
 
RECESSION WATCH 
Key indicators for a recession are not currently apparent with 1) an upward sloping yield curve, 2) improving 
employment and 3) low but rising rates, inflation and wages. There are concerns on recession watch at the moment 
such as a serious credit event after the excesses we have seen in some corporate leverage driven by low interest rates 
for the last decade. Corporate debt is a worry in certain markets alongside EU banks’ non-performing loans. Chinese 
corporate leverage is of concern and some areas of high yield could pose problems especially if rates were to rise 
more sharply than expected. Auto finance is also showing some signs of stress. The US growth cycle has been already 
rather long, combined with the raising interest rates and latest increased asset volatility maybe the first more clear 
signs of a recession in the medium-term future.   
 
LPGS Central Limited View –We see the likelihood of a recession as medium over the next 18 months. 2020 could mark 
the start of the next recession. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Investment Factors”: 
 LGPS Central Limited view on Investment Factors hardly unchanged, except for a strengthened 

“Overweight” for Value due to recent increased underperformance. 
 In light of the current economic cycle and potential, the favoured factors are a combination of “Value”, 

“Growth” and “Quality/ESG”. 

20



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

7 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED Q3 MARKET UPDATE2 
The last quarter of 2018 showed a very negative picture across the globe in equities. The strongest decline was 
observed from the Nikkei with -17.45% followed by a performance of -14.28% by the S&P 500. The FTSE 100 and 
Eurostoxx 50 both also had a negative performance for the respective quarter (-10.24%, -12.09%). Asia Pacific and 
the Hang Seng both entered negative territory albeit not as severe as the performances of the other indices, 
returning –9.08%% and –6.99%% respectively.  Year to date the trend of a rising equity market has been disrupted 
in Q4, with Asia Pacific being the poorest performer with -16.25% in 2018, followed by the Hang Seng and Eurostoxx 
50 (-13.61%/-14.34%). Other indices also record a negative 2018 performance, the FTSE (-12.48%) and Nikkei (-
12.08%). Given those drastic equity falls over the last quarter in 2018, equities may have now entered into a bear 
market, due to weakened economic outlooks, trade war concerns, interest rate rises and looming Brexit uncertainty.  

* 
Given those strong equity market declines in Q4, it is somehow surprising that the US Michigan Consumer Sentiment 
is unchanged from its recent highs in April and is still well above its ten-year average indicating that positive 
momentum continues. Jobless claims and a small business survey (the Small Business Optimism Index), show for the 
first time in 2018 a downtrend, though remain high suggesting a good economy. The VIX remains at elevated levels 
showing a general uncertainty of Investment participants on the future market outlook. In 2018 IPOs raised around 
$45bn, the IPO pipeline for 2019 looks even stronger with the likes of Dwell, Airbnb and Uber, but could see many 
IPOs postponed if the bear market manifests itself and does not reverse. 

* 
There is still little movement on the Brexit front. Theresa May is still trying to gather support for the deal she 
negotiated, as her draft Brexit deal has divided MPs. May survived a confidence vote with a majority of 83, but not 
made much progress since then. Mays attempt to modify the Brexit deal with the EU has failed, and the deal she has 
been offered, was rejected in early January. Outlook still very uncertain between Hard and Soft Brexit or also no 
Brexit. 

* 
The Oil price has declined over the course of the fourth quarter by -36.69%, reversing the Q3 year-to-date gains from 
23.7% to -19.6% for 2018. At this level Oil closed at its lowest level in 2018, caused by imbalances in supply and 
demand and the U.S. withdrawal from the Iran nuclear deal as well as the looming trade war. Additionally, OPEC 
agreed to ratchet up production first pushing the oil price up in September and October, followed by a sharp decline 
in the price. Gold prices climbed by 7.9%% in Q4, reducing losses in 2018 to -1.56% from -8.6% as of Q3, and hence 
closing flattish for 2018. Sterling has dropped by 2.2% against the USD over Q3, down 5.6% in  2018.  

* 
The US Federal Reserve has raised rates for a fourth time in 2018 from 2.25% to 2.5%, alongside revising its forecast 
for economic growth down to 2.3% from 2.5%.  The Fed was forecasting fewer rate rises lie ahead than it had 
previously predicted and reduces the rate hike forecast down to 2 from 3. Benchmark US yields therefore fell by 
46bps amid concern over the economic outlook. In the UK yields have dropped by 19.7% from 1.587 to 1.275 (generic 
10-year UK gilt) driven by the ongoing Brexit uncertainty and the delay in the parliamentary vote on the Brexit deal 
has seen asset flights to safety.   

* 
For Q1 2019 it is expected that the market continues to be dominated by Trump politics, Oil prices and Brexit, all 
remain uncertainties and have not changed since Q3. The rising rate environment could see cash becoming for the 
first time since a long time an attractive asset again and may in addition to the safety flight into government bonds 
add to the pressure on the equity market. Cash though remains of high levels in investor surveys which suggests non-
cash investments could perform. We believe that no Brexit remains a possibility and this would be positive for the 
UK equity markets and Sterling. 

* 
The graph on the next page summaries the year 2018 around the globe:

                                                             
2 Performance for the quarter measured over period of 30/09/18 to 31/12/18 

21



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

8 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                              For professional clients only 

 

 

22



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

9 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

RISK ANALYSIS 
Table 8: Risk in order of probability 

RISK LGPSCL 
Possibility 

LGPSCL 
Impact Change Comment LGPSCL favoured assets to protect 

against the risk 

RISING 
INFLATION  

High High 

 Forecasts are stagnating, but market 
participants have a different view and believe 
levels are rising everywhere from low levels. 

UK inflation risk is increasing with Brexit 
weighing on the economy. Declining oil price 

will put downward pressure on inflation. 

Overweight Infrastructure, 
property and equities, underweight 

Fixed Income  

RISING 
INTEREST RATES  

High Moderate 

 Rates rising, and QE reversal is putting 
upward pressure on yields. A no-deal Brexit 
could further put pressure to hike interest 

rates up. 

Overweight short duration, Growth 
Assets and high-quality credit 

Securitised debt which attracts 
floating interest rate, underweight 

Fixed Income 

WORLD TRADE 
WAR 

Medium High 

 US imposes tariffs on $200bn of Chinese 
imports. Economists believe this will only 
have modest impact on global growth as 

tariffs only impact a small proportion of global 
trade. 

Slowdown of economic growth and 
de-stabilising effect, overweight 

Gold and insurance linked, 
overweight US equities 

EQUITY SELL 
OFF Moderate Moderate  

We initially included this risk as equity highs 
could lead to some profit taking fuelled by 

inflation concerns causing a sell-off, as well as 
Rising rates aggerating sell-off due to shift in 
asset class. We believe this is what has been 

seen over Q4 18 and increase possibility as we 
believe there is a good change downward 

trends carries on as we may enter into a bear 
market. 

Safe haven assets such as 
government bonds and gold, 
increased demand for equity 
downside protection makes 

volatility rise, buy volatility early, 
as short-term measure protect 

through selling futures 

HARD BREXIT Moderate Moderate 
 

Hard Brexit could hit the UK economy due to 
lost trade revenue from the EU and carry on 

having a weakening impact on Sterling which 
could cause rising exports outside the EU in 
the medium turn. Hard Brexit seems more 

likely 

Consider underweighting UK 
equities in the short term and if 

Hard Brexit leaving foreign 
currency exposure unhedged or 

reduce hedge.  Reduce exposure to 
chemicals, automotive and food 

sector as those will be hit hardest 
by a hard Brexit. UK domestic 
equities are pricing Brexit in at 

12xPE 

EURO BREAK-
UP Medium High 

 
Still considerable uncertainty as the UK leaves 
the EU. Italy’s political maelstrom adds to the 

picture. 

Overweight protective assets such 
as Gold, non-Euro assets, buy 

Sterling, buy US Dollar 

GEOPOLITICAL 
RISK 

Medium Low 
 New leader in Brazil and Africa can cause a 

shift in dynamics and impact economy and 
investor behaviour. 

Hold a well-diversified portfolio 

DEBT ISSUES Medium Moderate  

UK political risks are increasing, EU banks 
have not taken enough non-performing loan 
action, China and Automotive debt concerns 

present. 

Underweight EU and China, 
underweight selective credit, such 

as Automotive 

CLIMATE-
RELATED 

TRANSITION 
RISK  

Medium  Moderate  
 

- Generic Carbon price at 10-year high 
- UNPRI is highlighting risk 
- Investment gap in transitioning the energy 
system equal to 2.4% of GDP 

Underweight Energy & GEMs, 
overweight Renewables and 

sustainable investment themes 
such as Infrastructure  

CLIMATE-
RELATED 

PHYSICAL RISK  
Medium  Moderate  

 

- US Billon Dollar Disaster Event Frequency: 
Average based on last 5 years, modestly 
above average based on last 38 years.  
- Catastrophic Economic losses for EMEA for 
2018 well under 10-year average. 
- Catastrophic Economic losses for US for 2018 
at record low compared to 10-year average. 

Hold a well-diversified portfolio  

23



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

10 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LGPS Central Limited’s view on “Scenario Risks”:  
 LGPS Central Limited’s view is that with a well-diversified portfolio, the majority of key risks from these 

scenarios should balance out any strong negative impacts. Alternatively, short term asset adjustments can 
be made to the portfolio to seek protection or a derivative overlay can hedge out undesired negative 
impacts and provide protection. 

 It is our view that the next 12 months should produce a positive return for Income Assets and will probably 
see low to negative returns for Stabilising Assets. Our opinion is that fixed income does not offer good risk 
adjusted returns for pension fund money at this time and should remain underweight. Growth Assets may 
in the short-term see negative returns if a bear market manifests itself. 

 

24



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

11 
Please read important information at the end of the report                                         For professional clients only 

 

Omar Ghafur 
ID Private Equity 
 
 
Omar.Ghafur@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 177 

 
 

SPECIAL FEATURE: PRIVATE EQUITY 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sell Private Equity Funds / Buy Direct Private Equity Investments 

As we round off 2018, the Global Private Equity Market shows no sign of abatement 

and all signals point to another record year for Private Equity. With the Private Equity 
asset class taking up an increasingly larger portfolio allocation for many institutional 
investors, the market is continuing to be awash with Private Equity fund raising. Circa 
US$621 billion was raised for Private Equity Funds in 2017, which makes it the current 
record holder, having surpassed the US$557 billion of funds raised for Private Equity 
in 2008.  

Let’s take a step back and ask the fundamental question why should one invest in the Private Equity 

asset class? If you take a survey, you will likely hear the following responses – Private Equity has lower 
volatility than listed equities, it usually has low correlation with traditional asset classes and able to 
deliver positive diversification effects, and the favourite – offers exposure to companies/industries you 
may not have access to via traditional listed markets.  

Thus, when you couple the rationale for Private Equity investments with the current figures of fund 

raising activity, it poses the logical question – will not too much money chasing the same deals drive up 
the underlying asset price? Correct. The market is already seeing historically high valuation levels in the 
large buyout segment. Furthermore, the pre-IPO Private Equity market is facing challenges due to 
increasing competition from non-traditional Private Equity investors e.g. debt funds which are offering 
financing via debt instruments to the same companies – hence also further contributing to the current 
high valuation levels.  Lastly, one of the two routes of exit from a Private Equity investment, the IPO (the 
other being trade sale to financial/strategic/PE buyer) faces a similar challenge – namely too many 
transactions currently in the pipeline for IPO creating a backlog. As of end of January 2018, just one 
major UK investment bank had cited that they alone had circa 25 transactions in the IPO pipeline carried 
over from 2017 – extrapolate that number across the number of international investment banks known 
to you in NYC, London, Paris, HK, Tokyo, Shanghai and the situation starts to look quite hairy. 

Therefore, in a situation which is currently offering entry at a higher than norm valuations and an 
opaque exit strategy, whilst charging on-going fees of circa 2.0% per annum, it is recommended to be 
“Underweight” Private Equity Funds. Nonetheless, a “do not” invest” recommendation is certainly not 
being flagged for the entire Private Equity asset class, specifically the Direct Private Equity approach 
(albeit as a lead or co-investor basis) still offers the fundamental characteristics, as discussed previously 
herein, investors are attracted to in this asset class. Investing directly in a defensive company (utilities, 
necessities, healthcare) will achieve for you the lower volatility and low correlation beloved of Private 
Equity. Furthermore, net returns will not be curbed with high management and performance fees 
associated with a Private Equity Fund investment and investment exit will not be a constant issue of 
worry, as being in a company in a defensive sector allows for the flexibility to delay the deal exit and earn 
a return via dividends, in the interim. 

Over the course of 2018, the LGPS Central Private Equity group generated under an Advisory Mandate 

dozens of direct co-investments opportunities via the Investment Director’s network and/or existing GP-
LP relationships of the Partner Funds. The imminent launch of the 2018 Vintage LGPS Central Private 
Equity Fund comprises a “sleeve” devoted to underwriting direct co-investments. 

25



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

12 

 

Significant changes have been observed since the last quarter, with 
the EU and UK yield curve higher and Japan lower. Only the US 
yield curve is hardly unchanged compared to last quarter. 

Consumer confidence remains high and continues to show an 
upward trend, sending a mixed signal based on weaker 
economic data. 

0.75

0.85

0.95

1.05

1.15

1.25

1.35

2010 2012 2014 2016 2018

Sc
al

ed
 to

 1
00

%

FX - Trade weighted Indices

TWI USD TWI EUR

-1
-0.5

0
0.5

1
1.5

2
2.5

3
3.5

3M 6M 1Y 2Y 3Y 4Y 5Y 6Y 7Y 8Y 9Y 10Y12Y15Y20Y25Y30Y40Y

Sovereign Yield Curves

US UK EU JPY
50

60

70

80

90

100

110

120

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018

US Michigan Consumer Sentiment

-2

-1

0

1

2

3

4

5

Historical CPI and forecast

UK US EU JP

 APPENDIX 1: ECONOMIC OUTLOOK  

  

 

  

 

APPENDIX 1: Financial Market  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

GPD Growth Rate and Forecast

US EU UK JP World

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

Sp
re

ad
 to

 U
S 

Tr
ea

su
ry

 (%
)

US Corporate Bond Market

Corporate Bond
spread BBB
Corporate Bond
spread AA

Average BBB: 1.94

Since last quarter the World Economy is now forecasted to 
slightly declined and forecasts of all major economies have 
been corrected downward.  

The trade-weighted strength of the Dollar has further increased 
its gap compared to other currencies over the last quarter. 

Corporate bond spreads have continued rising since the last 
quarter and are now just over the periods average, indicating 
credit is getting more expensive 

Source: Bloomberg, OECD, data as of 02/01/2019 

Inflation forecasts have further flattened since last quarter 
and suggest not too much of a surprise for 2019.  

Forecasts: 

Average: 85 

Please read important information at the end of the report For professional clients only 

26



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

13 

 

The US has significantly outperformed the rest of the world since 
2009, however Q4 has seen a sharp market decline caused by 
the Technology sector.  

US equities start to look less expensive compared to the EU 
and UK. The current S&P P/E is 17.11, decreased from 21.2 in 
Q3 18 and now below its long-term average. 

This is accompanied by a spike in implied volatility, indicating a 
general increased nervousness in the market. Historically this 
has tended to be a good  buy signal. 

IPO activity has picked up since the last quarter and is now 
slightly above average for the respective period. 2019 could see 
with examples such as Uber and Dell a peak IPO year. 

Pending for 2018 
 
Forecast for 2019 

M&A activity paints a similar picture to IPO deals and has 
recorded an increased deal activity compared to Q3 18. 

0.3

0.8

1.3

1.8

2.3

Equity makret performance

S&P 500 Eurostoxx FTSE 100 Nikkei

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

5

10

15

20

25

30

S&P 500 P/E against S&P Performance

PE S&P 0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

VIX Volatilty

Real Vol VIX

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

D
ea

l v
al

ue
 $

bn

IPO Deal Value $bn

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

4,500,000

5,000,000

5,500,000

D
ea

l C
ou

nt

Vo
lu

m
e 

$m

Gobal M & A activity

Deal Count Volume

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

Performance of asset classes - Annualised returns 
%

Three years Five Years Ten Years Twenty Years

APPENDIX 2: MARKET OUTLOOK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Average: 19.5 

Source: Bloomberg, OECD, data as of 02/01/2019 

Recent negative equity market performance had an impact 
on recent returns which are correlated to equities. 

For professional clients only Please read important information at the end of the report 
13 

Average: $230BN 

27



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

14 

 

Jason Fletcher 
CIO 
 
Jason.Fletcher@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 170 
 
 

Colin Pratt 
ID Manager of 
Managers 
 
Colin.Pratt@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 209 
 

 

Gordon Ross 
ID Fixed Income 
 
Gordon.Ross@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 167 
 
 

David Evans 
ID Passive Equities 
 
David.Evans@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 199 

 
 

Michael Marshall 
Director of Responsible 
Investing & Engagement 
 
Michael.Marshall@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 193 
 

Omar Ghafur 
ID Private Equity 
 
 
Omar.Ghafur@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 177 

 
 

Duncan Sanford 
Consultant 
 
 
Duncan.Sanford@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 169 

 
 

 1.5% nominal yield on UK 10yr Gilt is not a sufficient return to meet 
future liabilities which are inflation-linked 

 Rising inflation is bad for Gilt returns 
 Yields to turn upwards as multi-year lows are reversed 

 Weak dollar expected good returns for GEMs  
 Threat from US-China trade tariffs/trade war priced into GEMs 
 Valuation very attractive for GEMs 

 

 Expensive historically but good value versus bonds 
 Opportunities may arise from some global investors paring back 

interest in UK 
 Maturing pension schemes and better funding levels should support 

demand 
 Fears of nationalisation of infrastructure assets under a future 

labour government could impact investment returns especially in 
light of political instability emanating from Brexit deal rejection 

 

 Heightened sensitivity to Brexit deterring some investors and 
slowing investment activity 

 Continued pressure on Retail valuations likely to accelerate as 
valuation departments assert their independence 

 Retail will present value at some point, just not yet 
 Occupational demand a mixed bag but slowing even in strongest 

sectors 
 Yield still attractive versus other asset classes 

Mike Hardwick 
ID Property &  
Infrastructure 
 

Mike.Hardwick@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 552 089 
 

Vania Clayton 
Senior Portfolio Manager 
(Equity, Fixed Income, Derivatives) 
 
Vania.clayton@lgpscentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 206 
 
 

Callum Campbell 
Head of Client Services & 
Stakeholder Relations 
 
Callum.Campbell@lgpccentral.co.uk 

Phone: 01902 916 204 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 3: INVESTMENT IDEAS – MEET THE TEAM  

 

 
  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please contact Callum Campbell, Head of Client Services and Stakeholder Relations, if you would like to discuss the 
views outlined in this report with LGPS Central’s Investment Directors  

Underweight Fixed Income (G. Ross) 1
. 

2 Overweight EM equities (J. Fletcher) 

Neutral property – Negative Outlook (M. Hardwick) Overweight infrastructure (M. Hardwick) 3
2

4
. 

For professional clients only Please read important information at the end of the report 

28



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

15 
 

 

 Fund raising environment remains robust, with substantial “dry 
powder” for investments; 

 Possibility of PE Managers overpaying for assets due to increased 
competition; 

 Favour PE downside protection (e.g. private debt) and uncorrelated 
 with world equity market 
 Direct investment in defensive companies/sectors and/or upper 

quartile managers 
 Sell unattractive and legacy assets 

 

 High quality credit 
 Securitised debt which attracts floating rates of interest 
 Yield curve positioning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Selective Overweight Private Equity (O. Ghafur) 5
. 

Defensive positioning in rising interest rate environment 6
. 

For professional clients only Please read important information at the end of the report 

29



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION: ISSUE 4 
 

16 
 

 

 

This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for information purposes. 
Any opinions, forecasts or estimates herein constitute a judgement, as at the date of this report, that is subject 
to change without notice. It does not constitute an offer or an invitation by or on behalf of LGPS Central 
Limited to any person to buy or sell any security. Any reference to past performance is not a guide to the 
future. The information and analysis contained in this 
publication have been compiled or arrived at from sources believed to be reliable, but LGPS Central Limited 
does not make any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability from 
loss arising from the use thereof. The opinions and conclusions expressed in this document are solely those of 
the author. This document may not be produced, either in whole or part, without the written permission of 
LGPS Central Limited. 
 
All information is prepared as of 02.01.2019, if not stated otherwise. 
 
This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only. 
 
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 
Registered in England Registered No: 10425159. 
Registered Office: Mander Centre, Wolverhampton, WV1 3NB 

For professional clients only 

30



 

     
                                         
 
 
 

Leicestershire County Council 
Pension Fund 

Funding and risk report as at 31 December 2018 
_____ 
 

 

Summary  

This funding update is provided to illustrate the estimated development of the funding position from 31 

March 2016 to 31 December 2018, for the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”).  It is 

addressed to Leicestershire County Council in its capacity as the Administering Authority of the Fund and 

has been prepared in my capacity as your actuarial adviser. 

At the last formal valuation the Fund assets were £3,164m and the liabilities were £4,153m.  This 

represents a deficit of £989m and equates to a funding level of 76%.  Since the valuation the funding level 

has increased by approximately 1% to 77.1% as detailed in the table above. 

This report has been produced exclusively for the Administering Authority.  This report must not be copied 

to any third party without our prior written consent. 

Should you have any queries please contact me. 

 

 

Anne Cranston AFA 

H
E

A
D

L
IN

E
 

 

 
 

31

ctuohy_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix C



 

     
                                         
 
 
 

 

What’s happened over the last quarter? 

 The funding level has fallen by approximately 5% over the last quarter. 

 This is due to a combination of slightly lower outlook for investment returns, which has increased 

the value placed on the past service liabilities and actual Fund returns being much lower than 

expected (-4.2% compared with c+1% expected). 

What’s happened since the 2016 formal valuation? 

The main drivers of change since the latest formal valuation are: 

 The outlook for future returns from investment classes has fallen since the triennial valuation. This 

has increased the value placed on the past service liabilities;  

 The outlook for future inflation has also risen which increases the value placed on the past service 

liabilities, as benefits increases are linked to the Consumer Price Index; 

 The impact of these changes in market conditions is an increase in deficit of £478m; and 

 Despite lower than expected investment returns over the last quarter, investment performance 

has still been better than expected (28.4% vs 11.4%) leading to a gain of £433m. 

The above changes have contributed to the increase in the overall funding level of approximately 1% and 

an increase in the deficit of around £228m. 

Other points to note 

 This report has been prepared using a single set of market-related assumptions derived in line 

with your Funding Strategy Statement and market yields at the calculation date, as per the table 

overleaf. 

 Contributions will be re-assessed following the 2019 formal valuation. Contributions are set 

allowing for many future economic scenarios, rather than relying on a single set of market-related 

assumptions. The assumptions underlying your funding target will also be reviewed at that time. 

 

32



 

     
                                         
 
 
 

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 P

O
S

IT
IO

N
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

33



 

     
                                         
 
 
 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



 

     
                                         
 
 
 

 

 

A
S

S
E

T
S

 A
N

D
 R

IS
K

S
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

35



 

     
                                         
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Reliances and limitations 
This report was commissioned by and is addressed to Leicestershire County Council in their capacity as the Administering Authority and is provided to 

assist in monitoring certain funding and investment metrics. It should not be used for any other purpose. It should not be released or otherwise disclosed 

to any third party except as required by law or with our prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its entirety. Decisions should not be 

taken based on the information herein without written advice from your consultant. Neither I nor Hymans Robertson LLP accept any liability to 

any other party unless we have expressly accepted such liability in writing. 

The method and assumptions used to calculate the updated funding position are consistent with those disclosed in the documents associated with the 

last formal actuarial valuation, although the financial assumptions have been updated to reflect known changes in market conditions. The calculations 

contain approximations and the accuracy of this type of funding update declines with time from the valuation; differences between the position shown in 

this report and the position which a new valuation would show can be significant. It is not possible to assess its accuracy without carrying out a full 

actuarial valuation. This update complies with Technical Actuarial Standard 100. 

36



 

 

 
 

 
LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 15 FEBRUARY 2019 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
DRAFT FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Committee’s approval for a revised 
Funding Strategy Statement. 

 
 Background 
 
2. There is a statutory requirement upon the Fund to maintain, and update, a Funding 

Strategy Statement (FSS). The FSS is a statement of the factors and policies that 
have been taken into account when calculating individual employers’ contribution 
rates, and also how the findings of the actuarial valuation interact with the setting of 
the Fund’s investment strategy. 

 
3. There is an obligation on the part of the actuary to take account of the contents of 

the Funding Strategy Statement before he can formally ‘sign off’ the 2019 actuarial 
valuation. The actuary is aware of the contents of the FSS and all of the policies 
included in it have been agreed with him. 

 
 Updated Funding Strategy Statement 
 
4. The draft FSS that is attached as the appendix to the report is an updated version 

of the Fund’s existing FSS. By way of summary, the changes from the existing 
document are:- 
 
i) The introduction of Pass-through arrangements for new admission bodies. 
ii) Changes to the data used when assessing Academy employer rates. Data used 

will be the latest available data for future assessments. 
 

5. The FSS is a lengthy document but this is necessitated by the increasingly diverse 
group of employers who make up the scheme, and the resultant inability to have 
‘one-size-fits-all’ policies.  

 
6. A draft copy of the FSS was sent to all of the approximately 200 employing bodies 

in mid-December 2018, with a request for any comments by 1st February 2019. 
There were no  comments received by 31st January or by the time that this report 
was written, but if any comments of note are received before the meeting the 
Committee will be informed verbally.  

 
7. For practical reasons the FSS has been written as if it has already been approved 

at this meeting.  

37 Agenda Item 8



 

 
 
  Recommendation 
 
8.  The Board is asked to approve the Funding Strategy Statement included as the 

Appendix to this report. 
 
  Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
  None specific. 
 
  Background Papers 
   
  None 
  
  Appendix 
 
  Draft Funding Strategy Statement 
 
  Officer to Contact 
 
  
 Chris Tambini, Director of Finance          telephone 0116 305 6199 
   
 
 
 

38



 

 

  

 

 

L
e

ic
e
s
te

rs
h
ir
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 

C
o

u
n
c
il 

 P
e
n
s
io

n
 F

u
n
d

 
F

u
n
d
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 

 F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

1
9

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  

 

February 2019  

 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
 

 

Funding Strategy Statement PAGE 

 

1 Introduction 1 
2 Basic Funding issues 4 
3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 8 
4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 19 

 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – Regulatory framework 22 
Appendix B – Responsibilities of key parties 24 
Appendix C – Key risks and controls 26 
Appendix D – The calculation of Employer contributions 30 
Appendix E – Actuarial assumptions 33 
Appendix F – Glossary 35 
 

 

40



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 001 

 

February 2019  

1 Introduction 

1.1 What is this document? 

This is the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) of the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 

which is administered by Leicestershire County Council, (“the Administering Authority”).  

It has been prepared by the Administering Authority in collaboration with the Fund’s actuary, Hymans Robertson 

LLP, and after consultation with the Fund’s employers and investment adviser.  It is effective from 1
st
 April 2019.  

This FSS supersedes the FSS in place from 1 January 2017. 

1.2 What is the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund? 

The Fund is part of the national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  The LGPS was set up by the UK 

Government to provide retirement and death benefits for local govern 

+ 

ment employees, and those employed in similar or related bodies, across the whole of the UK.  The 

Administering Authority runs the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund, in effect the LGPS for the 

Leicestershire area, to make sure it:  

 receives the proper amount of contributions from employees and employers, and any transfer payments; 

 invests the contributions appropriately, with the aim that the Fund’s assets grow over time with investment 

income and capital growth; 

 uses the assets to pay Fund benefits to the members (as and when they retire, for the rest of their lives), 

and to their dependants (as and when members die), as defined in the LGPS Regulations. Assets are 

also used to pay transfer values and administration costs. 

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties involved in the management of the Fund are summarised in 

Appendix B. 

1.3 Why does the Fund need a Funding Strategy Statement? 

Employees’ benefits are guaranteed by the LGPS Regulations, and do not change with market values or 

employer contributions.  Investment returns will help pay for some of the benefits, but probably not all, and 

certainly with no guarantee.  Employees’ contributions are fixed in those Regulations also, at a level which 

covers only part of the cost of the benefits.   

Therefore, employers need to pay the balance of the cost of delivering the benefits to members and their 

dependants.   

The FSS focuses on how employer liabilities are measured, the pace at which these liabilities are funded, and 

how employers or pools of employers pay for their own liabilities.  This statement sets out how the Administering 

Authority has balanced the conflicting aims of: 

 affordability of employer contributions,  

 transparency of processes,  

 stability of employers’ contributions, and  

 prudence in the funding basis.  

There are also regulatory requirements for an FSS, as given in Appendix A. 

41



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 002 

 

February 2019  

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding its liabilities, and this includes reference to the Fund’s 

other policies; it is not an exhaustive statement of policy on all issues.  The FSS forms part of a framework of 

which includes: 

 the LGPS Regulations; 

 the Rates and Adjustments Certificate (confirming employer contribution rates for the next three years) 

which can be found in an appendix to the formal valuation report; 

 the Fund’s policies on admissions, cessations and bulk transfers; 

 actuarial factors for valuing individual transfers, early retirement costs and the costs of buying added 

service; and 

 the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (see Section 4). 

1.4 How does the Fund and this FSS affect me? 

This depends who you are: 

 a member of the Fund, i.e. a current or former employee, or a dependant: the Fund needs to be sure it is 

collecting and holding enough money so that your benefits are always paid in full; 

 an employer in the Fund (or which is considering joining the Fund): you will want to know how your 

contributions are calculated from time to time, that these are fair by comparison to other employers in the 

Fund, and in what circumstances you might need to pay more.  Note that the FSS applies to all 

employers participating in the Fund; 

 an Elected Member whose council participates in the Fund: you will want to be sure that the council 

balances the need to hold prudent reserves for members’ retirement and death benefits, with the other 

competing demands for council money; 

 a Council Tax payer: your council seeks to strike the balance above, and also to minimise cross-subsidies 

between different generations of taxpayers. 

1.5 What does the FSS aim to do? 

The FSS sets out the objectives of the Fund’s funding strategy, such as:  

 to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, using a prudent long term view.  This will ensure that 

sufficient funds are available to meet all members’/dependants’ benefits as they fall due for payment; 

 to ensure that employer contribution rates are reasonably stable where appropriate; 

 to minimise the long-term cash contributions which employers need to pay to the Fund, by recognising 

the link between assets and liabilities and adopting an investment strategy which balances risk and return 

(NB this will also minimise the costs to be borne by Council Tax payers); 

 to reflect the different characteristics of different employers in determining contribution rates.  This 

involves the Fund having a clear and transparent funding strategy to demonstrate how each employer 

can best meet its own liabilities over future years; and 

 to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to the Council Tax payer 

from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations. 

1.6 How do I find my way around this document? 

In Section 2 there is a brief introduction to some of the main principles behind funding, i.e. deciding how much 

an employer should contribute to the Fund from time to time. 

42



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 003 

 

February 2019  

In Section 3 we outline how the Fund calculates the contributions payable by different employers in different 

situations. 

In Section 4 we show how the funding strategy is linked with the Fund’s investment strategy. 

In the Appendices we cover various issues in more detail if you are interested: 

A. the regulatory background, including how and when the FSS is reviewed, 

B. who is responsible for what, 

C. what issues the Fund needs to monitor, and how it manages its risks, 

D. some more details about the actuarial calculations required, 

E. the assumptions which the Fund actuary currently makes about the future, 

F. a glossary explaining the technical terms occasionally used here. 

If you have any other queries please contact Ian Howe in the first instance at e-mail address 

ian.howe@leics.gov.uk or on telephone number 0116 305 6945.  

  

43



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 004 

 

February 2019  

2 Basic Funding issues 

(More detailed and extensive descriptions are given in Appendix D). 

2.1 How does the actuary calculate the required employer  contribution rate? 

Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements: 

a) the estimated cost of benefits being built up each year, after deducting the members’ own contributions 

and including administration expenses. This is referred to as the “Primary rate”, and is expressed as a 

percentage of members’ pensionable pay; plus 

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the 

employer needs to pay, referred to as the “Secondary rate”.  In broad terms, payment of the Secondary 

rate will aim to return the employer to full funding over an appropriate period (the “time horizon”). The 

Secondary rate may be expressed as a percentage of pay and/or a monetary amount in each year.  

The rates for all employers are shown in the Fund’s Rates and Adjustments Certificate, which forms part of the 

formal Actuarial Valuation Report.  Employers’ contributions are expressed as minima, with employers able to 

pay contributions at a higher rate.  Account of any higher rate will be taken by the Fund actuary at subsequent 

valuations, i.e. will be reflected as a credit when next calculating the employer’s contributions. 

2.2 How is a deficit (or surplus) calculated? 

An employer’s “funding level” is defined as the ratio of: 

 the market value of the employer’s share of assets (see Appendix D, section D6, for further details of how 

this is calculated), to  

 the value placed by the actuary on the benefits built up to date for the employer’s employees and ex-

employees (the “liabilities”).  The Fund actuary agrees with the Administering Authority the assumptions 

to be used in calculating this value. 

If this is less than 100% then it means the employer has a shortfall, which is the employer’s deficit; if it is more 

than 100% then the employer is said to be in surplus.  The amount of deficit or shortfall is the difference 

between the asset value and the liabilities value. 

It is important to note that the deficit/surplus and funding level are only measurements at a particular point in 

time, on a particular set of assumptions about the future. Whilst we recognise that various parties will take an 

interest in these measures, for most employers the key issue is how likely it is that their contributions will be 

sufficient to pay for their members’ benefits (when added to their existing asset share and anticipated 

investment returns).  

In short, deficits and funding levels are short term measures, whereas contribution-setting is a longer term 

issue. 

2.3 What else might affect the employer’s contribution? 

Employer covenant, and likely term of membership, are also considered when setting contributions: more details 

are given in Section 3. 

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund will only allow pooled contribution rates (other than pass-through 

arrangements) in extreme circumstances, see 3.4.  

Any costs of non ill-health early retirements must be paid by the employer, see 3.6. 

44



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 005 

 

February 2019  

If an employer is approaching the end of its participation in the Fund then its contributions may be amended 

appropriately, so that the assets meet (as closely as possible) the value of its liabilities in the Fund when its 

participation ends. 

Employers’ contributions are expressed as minima, with employers able to pay contributions at a higher rate.  

Account of the higher rate will be taken by the Fund Actuary at subsequent valuations. 

2.4 What different types of employer participate in the Fund? 

Historically the LGPS was intended for local authority employees only.  However over the years, with the 

diversification and changes to delivery of local services, many more types and numbers of employers now 

participate.  There are currently more employers in the Fund than ever before, and a significant number of the 

newer employing bodies are academies.  

In essence, participation in the LGPS is open to public sector employers providing some form of service to the 

local community. Whilst the majority of members will be local authority employees (and ex-employees), the 

majority of participating employers are those providing services in place of (or alongside) local authority 

services: academy schools, contractors, housing associations, charities, etc. 

The LGPS Regulations define various types of employer as follows: 

Scheduled bodies - councils, and other specified employers such as academies and further education 

establishments.  These must provide access to the LGPS in respect of their employees who are not eligible to 

join another public sector scheme (such as the Teachers Scheme).  These employers are so-called because 

they are specified in a schedule to the LGPS Regulations.     

It is now possible for Local Education Authority schools to convert to academy status, and for other forms of 

school (such as Free Schools) to be established under the academies legislation. All such academies (or Multi 

Academy Trusts), as employers of non-teaching staff, become separate new employers in the Fund.  As 

academies are defined in the LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled Bodies”, the Administering Authority has no 

discretion over whether to admit them to the Fund, and the academy has no discretion whether to continue to 

allow its non-teaching staff to join the Fund.  There has also been guidance issued by the DCLG regarding the 

terms of academies’ membership in LGPS Funds. 

Designating employers - employers such as town and parish councils are able to participate in the LGPS via 

resolution (and the Fund cannot refuse them entry where the resolution is passed).  These employers can 

designate which of their employees are eligible to join the scheme. 

Other employers are able to participate in the Fund via an admission agreement, and are referred to as 

‘admission bodies’.  These employers are generally those with a “community of interest” with another scheme 

employer – community admission bodies (“CAB”) or those providing a service on behalf of a scheme 

employer – transferee admission bodies (“TAB”).  CABs will include housing associations and charities, TABs 

will generally be contractors.  The Fund is able to set its criteria for participation by these employers and can 

refuse entry if the requirements as set out in the Fund’s admissions policy are not met. (NB The terminology 

CAB and TAB has been dropped from recent LGPS Regulations, which instead combine both under the single 

term ‘admission bodies’; however, we have retained the old terminology here as we consider it to be helpful in 

setting funding strategies for these different employers). 

  

45



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 006 

 

February 2019  

2.5 How does the Fund recognise that contribution levels can affect council and employer service 

provision, and council tax? 

The Administering Authority and the Fund actuary are acutely aware that, all other things being equal, a higher 

contribution required to be paid to the Fund will mean less cash available for the employer to spend on the 

provision of services.  For instance: 

 Higher pension fund contributions may result in reduced council spending, which in turn could affect the 

resources available for council services, and/or greater pressure on council tax levels; 

 Contributions which Academies pay to the Fund will therefore not be available to pay for providing 

education;and 

 Other employers will provide various services to the local community, perhaps through charitable work, or 

contracting council services. If they are required to pay more in pension contributions to the LGPS then 

this may affect their ability to provide the local services at a reasonable cost. 

Whilst all this is true, it should also be borne in mind that: 

 The Fund provides invaluable financial security to local families, whether to those who formerly worked in 

the service of the local community who have now retired, or to their families after their death; 

 The Fund must have the assets available to meet these retirement and death benefits, which in turn 

means that the various employers must each pay their own way.  Lower contributions today will mean 

higher contributions tomorrow: deferring payments does not alter the employer’s ultimate obligation to the 

Fund in respect of its current and former employees; 

 Each employer will generally only pay for its own employees and ex-employees (and their dependants), 

not for those of other employers in the Fund; 

 The Fund strives to maintain reasonably stable employer contribution rates where appropriate and 

possible. However, a recent shift in regulatory focus means that solvency within each generation is 

considered by the Government to be a higher priority than stability of contribution rates 

 The Fund wishes to avoid the situation where an employer falls so far behind in managing its funding 

shortfall that its deficit becomes unmanageable in practice: such a situation may lead to employer 

insolvency and the resulting deficit falling on the other Fund employers. In that situation, those employers’ 

services would in turn suffer as a result; 

 Council contributions to the Fund should be at a suitable level, to protect the interests of different 

generations of council tax payers. For instance, underpayment of contributions for some years will need 

to be balanced by overpayment in other years; the council will wish to minimise the extent to which 

council tax payers in one period are in effect benefiting at the expense of those paying in a different 

period.  

Overall, therefore, there is clearly a balance to be struck between the Fund’s need for maintaining prudent 

funding levels, and the employers’ need to allocate their resources appropriately.  The Fund achieves this 

through various techniques which affect contribution increases to various degrees (see 3.1).  In deciding which 

of these techniques to apply to any given employer, the Fund will consider a risk assessment of that employer to 

include such information as the type of employer, its membership profile and funding position, any guarantors or 

security provision, material changes anticipated, etc.  This helps the Fund establish a picture of the financial 

standing of the employer, i.e. its ability to meet its long term Fund commitments. 

46



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 007 

 

February 2019  

For instance, where an employer is considered relatively low risk then the Fund will permit greater smoothing 

(such as stabilisation or a longer deficit recovery period relative to other employers) which will temporarily 

produce lower contribution levels than would otherwise have applied.  This is permitted in the expectation that 

the employer will still be able to meet its obligations for many years to come. 

On the other hand, an employer whose risk assessment indicates a less strong covenant will generally be 

required to pay higher contributions (for instance, with a more prudent funding basis or a shorter deficit recovery 

period relative to other employers).  This is because of the higher probability that at some point it will fail or be 

unable to meet its pension contributions, with its deficit in the Fund then falling to other Fund employers. 

The Fund actively seeks employer input, including to its funding arrangements, through various means: see 

Appendix A.   

  

47



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 008 

 

February 2019  

3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 

3.1 General comments 

A key challenge for the Administering Authority is to balance the need for stable, affordable employer 

contributions with the requirement to take a prudent, longer-term view of funding and ensure the solvency of the 

Fund.  With this in mind, there are a number of methods which the Administering Authority may permit, in order 

to improve the stability of employer contributions.  These include, where circumstances permit:- 

 capping of employer contribution rate changes within a pre-determined range (“stabilisation”) 

 the use of extended deficit recovery periods 

 the phasing in of contribution rises 

 the use of some form of security or guarantee to justify a lower contribution rate than would otherwise be 

the case. 

These and associated issues are covered in this Section. 

The Administering Authority recognises that there may occasionally be particular circumstances affecting 

individual employers that are not easily managed within the rules and policies set out in the Funding Strategy 

Statement.  Therefore the Administering Authority may, at its sole discretion, direct the actuary to adopt 

alternative funding approaches on a case by case basis for specific employers. 

3.2 The effect of paying contributions below the theoretical level 

Employers which are permitted to use one or more of the above methods will often be paying, for a time, 

contributions less than the theoretical contribution rate.  Such employers should appreciate that: 

 their true long term liability (i.e. the actual eventual cost of benefits payable to their employees and ex-

employees) is not affected by the choice of method,  

 lower contributions in the short term will be assumed to incur a greater loss of investment returns on the 

deficit.  Thus, deferring a certain amount of contribution will lead to higher contributions in the long-term, 

and 

 it will take longer to reach full funding, all other things being equal.   

Overleaf (3.3) is a summary of how the main funding policies differ for different types of employer, followed by 

more detailed notes where necessary. 

Section 3.4 onwards deals with various other funding issues which apply to all employers. 

 

48



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 009 

 

February 2019  

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers 

Type of employer Scheduled Bodies Community Admission Bodies and 
Designating Employers (including 

Parish/Town Councils) 

Transferee Admission Bodies 

Sub-type Local 
Authorities 

(except 
Parish/Town 

Councils) 

Police, Fire, 
Colleges etc 

Academies Open to new 
entrants 

Closed to new 
entrants 

(all) 

Basis used Ongoing, assumes long-term Fund participation  
(see Appendix E) 

Ongoing, but may move to “gilts basis” - see 
Note (a) 

Ongoing, assumes fixed contract term in the 
Fund (see Appendix E) 

Primary Contribution  
rate 

Projected Unit Credit approach (see Appendix D – D.2) Attained Age approach 
(see Appendix D – D.2) 

Attained Age approach, unless open to new 
membership (see Appendix D – D.2) 

Stabilised contribution 
rate? 

Yes - see 
Note (b) 

Yes - see  
Note (b) 

Yes- see 

Note (b) 

No, excect 
Parish/Town 

Councils 

No, excect Parish/Town 
Councils  

No 

Maximum deficit 
recovery period – Note 
(c) 

20 years 20 years 20 years 17 years 15 years Outstanding contract term 

Deficit recovery 
payments – Note (d) 

% of payroll / 
monetary 
amount 

% of payroll / 
monetary 
amount 

% of payroll % of payroll % of payroll/monetary 
amount 

% of payroll/monetary amount depending on 
circumstances 

Treatment of surplus Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Preferred approach: contributions kept at 
Primary contribution  rate. However, 

reductions may be permitted by the Admin. 
Authority 

Reduce contributions by spreading the surplus 
over the remaining contract term 

Phasing of contribution 
changes 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Linked to previous 
education authority 

rate 

3 years 
- Note (e) 

3 years 
- Note (e) 

None, unless increases are particularly large 

Review of rates – Note 
(f) 

Administering Authority reserves the right to review contribution rates and amounts, and the level of 
security provided, at regular intervals between valuations 

Particularly reviewed in last 3 years of contract 

New employer n/a n/a Note (g) Note (h) Notes (h) & (i) 

Cessation of 
participation: cessation 
surplus or debt payable 

Cessation is assumed not to be generally possible, as 
Scheduled Bodies are legally obliged to participate in the 

LGPS.  In the rare event of cessation occurring 
(machinery of Government changes for example), the 
cessation principles applied would be as per Note (j). 

Can be ceased subject to terms of admission 
agreement.  Cessation surplus or debt will be 

calculated on a basis appropriate to the 
circumstances of cessation – see Note (j). 

Participation is assumed to expire at the end of 
the contract.  Cessation surplus or debt 

calculated on ongoing basis, unless cessation 
is caused by deliberate action taken by the 

employer. Awarding Authority will be liable for 
future deficits  that arise. 

 

49



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 010 

 

February 2019  

Note (a) (Basis for CABs and Designating Employers closed to new entrants) 

In the circumstances where: 

 the employer is a Designating Employer, or an Admission Body but not a Transferee Admission Body, 

and 

 the employer has no guarantor, and 

 the admission agreement is likely to terminate, or the employer is likely to lose its last active member, 

within a timeframe considered appropriate by the Administering Authority to prompt a change in funding,  

the Administering Authority may vary the discount rate used to set employer contribution rate.  In particular 

contributions may be set for an employer to achieve full funding on a more prudent basis (e.g. using a discount 

rate set equal to gilt yields) by the time the agreement terminates or the last active member leaves, in order to 

protect other employers in the Fund.  This policy will increase regular contributions and reduce, but not entirely 

eliminate, the possibility of a final deficit payment being required from the employer when a cessation valuation 

is carried out.   

The Administering Authority also reserves the right to adopt the above approach in respect of those Designating 

Employers and Admission Bodies with no guarantor, where the strength of covenant is considered to be weak 

but there is no immediate expectation that the admission agreement will cease or the Designating Employer 

alters its designation. 

Note (b) (Stabilisation) 

Stabilisation is a mechanism where employer contribution rate variations from year to year are kept within a pre-

determined range, thus allowing those employers’ rates to be relatively stable. In the interests of stability and 

affordability of employer contributions, the Administering Authority, on the advice of the Fund Actuary, believes 

that stabilising contributions can still be viewed as a prudent longer-term approach.  However, employers whose 

contribution rates have been “stabilised” (and may therefore be paying less than their theoretical contribution 

rate) should be aware of the risks of this approach and should consider making additional payments to the Fund 

if possible. 

This stabilisation mechanism allows short term investment market volatility to be managed so as not to cause 

volatility in employer contribution rates, on the basis that a long term view can be taken on net cash inflow, 

investment returns and strength of employer covenant. 

The current stabilisation mechanism applies if: 

 the employer satisfies the eligibility criteria based on tax raising status, financial security and time horizon 

in the Fund set by the Administering Authority  and; 

 there are no material events which cause the employer to become ineligible, e.g. significant reductions in 

active membership (due to outsourcing or redundancies), or changes in the nature of the employer 

(perhaps due to Government restructuring). 

 

 

 

 

50



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 011 

 

February 2019  

Type of employer “Standard” Council Parish Council Academy* Other 

Max cont increase +2% of pay +3% of pay +2% of pay N/A 

Max cont decrease -1% of pay -1% of pay -1% of pay -1% of pay 

*please note that for the period 1/4/17 – 31/3/20 academy rates are linked to those rates in payment of the 

respective education authority the academy used to belong to, subject to their being no reduction from the rate 

payable at 31/3/17. For the majority of academies their rate will be exactly in line with their former education 

authority, although for a handful there was no increase required from the rate they were paying at 31/3/17. For a 

small number an increase of 1% p.a. (which would have tied in with the increase of their former education 

authority) was insufficient to get them within an acceptable level of their full required rate, so their increases 

were set at 2% p.a. 

For the avoidance of doubt, academies will fit into one of the following ‘brackets’ for the three years 

commencing 1
st
 April 2017. The rates are quoted RELATIVE to their former education authority: 

Period Academies requiring no 

increase 

Academies following 

the contribution rate of 

former LEA 

Academies requiring 

higher increases 

1/4/17 – 31/3/18 -1% 0% +1% 

1/4/18 – 31/3/19 -2% 0% +1% 

1/4/19 – 31/3/20 -3% 0% +1% 

 

The stabilisation criteria and limits will be reviewed at the 31 March 2019 valuation, to take effect from 1 April 

2020.  This will take into account the employer’s membership profiles, the issues surrounding employer security, 

and other relevant factors. 

Note (c) (Deficit Recovery Periods) 

The deficit recovery period starts at the commencement of the revised contribution rate (1 April 2017 for the 

2016 valuation).  The Administering Authority would normally expect the same period to be used at successive 

triennial valuations (for open employers), but would reserve the right to propose alternative spreading periods, 

for example where there were no new entrants. 

Where stabilisation applies, the resulting employer contribution rate would be amended to comply with the 

stabilisation mechanism. 

For employers with no (or very few) active members at this valuation, the deficit should be recovered by a fixed 

monetary amount over a period to be agreed with the body or its successor, not to exceed the expected future 

working lifetime of active members. 

Note (d) (Deficit Recovery Payments) 

The preferred method of the actuary is to collect contributions on the basis of a percentage of payroll to cover 

the cost of future service, with an additional cash sum to cover deficit recovery payments. There are a number 

of employing bodies for whom this method is impractical, so in reality only the following types of employer will be 

required to make any contribution that will be included in the actuarial certificate as a monetary amount: 

51



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 012 

 

February 2019  

Tax-raising bodies (except those that are education authorities or Parish/Town Councils. Ashby Town Council 

will, however, be required to make a contribution as a monetary amount); 

Universities; 

Community Admission Bodies that are closed to new entrants (except Voluntary Action Leicester, who will 

instead be subject to a minimum cash sum in employers’ contributions); 

Transferee admission bodies whose sub-fund was in deficit at 31/3/16. 

For the majority of employers where stabilisation is not being applied, the deficit recovery payments for each 

employer covering the three year period until the next valuation will often be set as a percentage of salaries.  

However, the Administering Authority reserves the right to amend these rates between valuations and/or to 

require these payments in monetary terms instead, for instance where: 

 the employer is relatively mature, i.e. has a large deficit recovery contribution rate (e.g. above 15% of 

payroll), in other words its payroll is a smaller proportion of its deficit than is the case for most other 

employers, or 

 there has been a significant reduction in payroll due to outsourcing or redundancy exercises, or 

 the employer has closed the Fund to new entrants. 

Note (e) (Phasing in of contribution changes) 

All phasing is subject to the Administering Authority being satisfied as to the strength of the employer’s 

covenant. 

Note (f) (Regular Reviews) 

Such reviews may be triggered by significant events including but not limited to: an employer approaching exit 

from the Fund, significant reductions in payroll, altered employer circumstances, Government restructuring 

affecting the employer’s business, or failure to pay contributions or arrange appropriate security as required by 

the Administering Authority. 

The result of a review may be to require increased contributions (by strengthening the actuarial assumptions 

adopted and/or moving to monetary levels of deficit recovery contributions), and/or an increased level of security 

or guarantee.   

Note (g) (New Academy employers) 

At the time of writing, the Fund’s policies on academies’ funding issues are as follows:  

a) The new academy will be regarded as a separate employer in its own right and will not be pooled with 

other employers in the Fund.  The only exception is where the academy is part of a Multi Academy Trust 

(MAT) in which case the academy’s figures will be calculated as below but can be combined with those of 

the other academies in the MAT; 

b) The new academy’s past service liabilities on conversion will be calculated based on its active Fund 

members on the day before conversion.  For the avoidance of doubt, these liabilities will include all past 

service of those members, but will exclude the liabilities relating to any ex-employees of the school who 

have deferred or pensioner status; 

c) The new academy will be allocated an initial asset share from the ceding council’s assets in the Fund.  

This asset share will be calculated using the estimated funding position of the ceding council at the date 

52



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 013 

 

February 2019  

of academy conversion.  The share will be based on the active members’ funding level, having first 

allocated assets in the council’s share to fully fund deferred and pensioner members.  The asset 

allocation will be based on market conditions and the academy’s active Fund membership on the day 

prior to conversion. For academy conversions effective from 1 December 2018 or later, the initial asset 

allocation, from the ceding council’s assets, will be based on the 2016 formal valuation; 

d) The academy will pay contributions initially in line with the rate payable by their former education 

authority, unless they become part of a Multi Academy Trust that crosses education authority boundaries. 

In these cases the rate will be determined in the most appropriate manner to the circumstances, but it will 

be in line with the rate of one of the relevant education authorities and all establishments within the City, 

County or Rutland that are part of the same MAT will have the same contribution rate. Ultimately, all 

academies remain responsible for their own allocated deficit. 

The Fund’s policies on academies are subject to change in the light of any amendments to DCLG guidance. 

Any changes will be notified to academies, and will be reflected in a subsequent version of this FSS. In 

particular, policy (d) above will be reconsidered at each valuation. 

In the future it is likely that the linking of the contribution rates payable by academies to their former local 

education authority will become inconsistent with the setting of contribution rates that are relevant to the 

circumstances of individual academies. It is, however, considered likely that there will be groups of academies 

that will pay the same rate as this is administratively simpler than having (potentially) hundreds of slightly 

different contribution rates. Paying the same contribution rates in NOT the same as pooling, and there will be no 

cross-subsidy caused by this policy. 

Note (h) (New Admission Bodies) 

With effect from 1 October 2012, the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous Regulations introduced mandatory new 

requirements for all Admission Bodies brought into the Fund from that date.  Under these Regulations, all new 

Admission Bodies will be required to provide some form of security, such as a guarantee from the letting 

employer, an indemnity or a bond.  The security is required to cover some or all of the following: 

 the strain cost of any redundancy early retirements resulting from the premature termination of the 

contract; 

 allowance for the risk of asset underperformance; 

 allowance for the risk of a fall in gilt yields; 

 allowance for the possible non-payment of employer and member contributions to the Fund; 

 the current deficit. 

For all new Transferee Admission Bodies, the security must be to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority 

as well as the letting employer, and will be reassessed on an annual basis. 

The Administering Authority will only consider requests from Community Admission Bodies (or other similar 

bodies, such as section 75 NHS partnerships) to join the Fund if they are sponsored by a Scheduled Body with 

tax raising powers, guaranteeing their liabilities and also providing a form of security as above.  

The above approaches reduce the risk to other employers in the Fund, of potentially having to pick up any 

shortfall in respect of Admission Bodies ceasing with an unpaid deficit. 

Note (i) (New Transferee Admission Bodies) 

53



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 014 

 

February 2019  

A new TAB usually joins the Fund as a result of the letting/outsourcing of some services from an existing 

employer (normally a Scheduled Body such as a council or academy) to another organisation (a “contractor”).  

This involves the TUPE transfer of some staff from the letting employer to the contractor.  Consequently, for the 

duration of the contract, the contractor is a new participating employer in the Fund so that the transferring 

employees maintain their eligibility for LGPS membership.  At the end of the contract the employees revert to 

the letting employer or to a replacement contractor. 

Historically, the TAB would be set up in the Fund as a new employer with responsibility for all the accrued 

benefits of the transferring employees; in this case, the contractor would usually be assigned an initial asset 

value equal to the past service liability value of the employees’ Fund benefits.  The quid pro quo is that the 

contractor is then expected to ensure that its share of the Fund is also fully funded at the end of the contract: 

see Note (j). 

From a suitable date in future, the Fund’s policy is that new outsourcings are set up under a “pass through” 

arrangement (although exceptions will be considered on a case-by-case basis at the Fund’s discretion). Pass 

through arrangements allow for the pension risks to be shared between the letting employer and new contractor. 

Typically the majority of the pension risk is borne by the letting employer and thus the liability is retained on their 

balance sheet – as such the contractor would not be required to pay any deficit or receive any surplus at the 

end of the contract (subject to any agreed exceptions). However, there is some flexibility within a pass through 

arrangement. In particular there are three different routes that the letting employer may wish to adopt.  Clearly 

as the risk ultimately resides with the employer letting the contract, it is for them to agree the appropriate route 

with the contractor: 

i) Pooling 

Under this option the contractor is pooled with the letting employer.  In this case, the contractor pays the same 

or similar rate as the letting employer. 

ii) Letting employer retains pre-contract risks 

Under this option the letting employer would retain responsibility for assets and liabilities in respect of service 

accrued prior to the contract commencement date.  The contractor would be responsible for the future liabilities 

that accrue in respect of transferred staff.  The contractor’s contribution rate could vary from one valuation to the 

next. It would be liable for any deficit, or be paid any surplus at the end of the contract term in respect of assets 

and liabilities attributable to service accrued during the contract term and actions wholly attributable to the new 

employer for example excessive pay awards. 

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed 

Under this option the contractor pays a fixed contribution rate and doesn’t pay any cessation deficit or receive 

any surplus at the end of the contract term. 

Although each matter will be dealt with on a case by case basis the Administering Authority default position is 

pooling with any surplus or deficit passing back to the letting employer. The Admission Agreement as well as 

the transfer agreement reflects this. The Admission Agreement should ensure that some element of risk 

transfers to the contractor where it relates to their decisions and it is unfair to burden the letting employer with 

that risk.  For example the contractor should typically be responsible for pension costs that arise from; 

 

 above average pay increases, including the effect in respect of service prior to contract commencement 

even if the letting employer takes on responsibility for the latter under (ii) above;   

 redundancy and early retirement decisions. 

54



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 015 

 

February 2019  

Employers which outsource should be aware that all actuarial costs relating to the outsourcing (which will 

include any work that is required at the end of a contract) will be charged to either the outsourcing employer or 

the contractor, and will NOT be met by the Fund. The exception will be the setting of employer contribution rates 

as part of a normal actuarial valuation, where the Fund pays actuarial fees as the work covers all employing 

bodies.  

Note (j) (Admission Bodies Ceasing) 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Admission Agreement, the Administering Authority may consider any of 

the following as triggers for the cessation of an admission agreement with any type of body: 

 Last active member ceasing participation in the Fund; 

 The insolvency, winding up or liquidation of the Admission Body; 

 Any breach by the Admission Body of any of its obligations under the Agreement that they have failed to 

remedy to the satisfaction of the Fund; 

 A failure by the Admission Body to pay any sums due to the Fund within the period required by the Fund; 

or 

 The failure by the Admission Body to renew or adjust the level of the bond or indemnity, or to confirm an 

appropriate alternative guarantor, as required by the Fund. 

 The failure by the Admission Body to sign the admission agreement and/or bond documents and secure 

the required guarantee as required by the Fund. 

On cessation, the Administering Authority will instruct the Fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation to 

determine whether there is any deficit or surplus. Where there is a deficit, payment of this amount in full would 

normally be sought from the Admission Body; where there is a surplus an exit credit will be paid to the 

Admission Body within three months of the cessation date (or another date agreed between the Administering 

Authority and the the Admission Body).  

For Transferee Admission Bodies any cessation valuation would normally be carried out on an on-going basis, 

as this will be the basis on which their opening position was calculated. Where a Transferee Admission Body 

has taken, in the view of the Administering Authority, action that has been deliberately designed to bring about a 

cessation event (stopping future accrual of LGPS benefits, for example) then the cessation valuation will be 

carried out on a gilts basis. 

Any cessation valuation, whether carried out on an on-going or a gilts basis, will calculate the surplus or deficit 

at the point of the cessation and full payment of any deficit amount will release the Transferee Admission Body 

from any further liability to the Fund. In the event that the sub-fund of the Transferee Admission Body 

subsequently falls into a deficit position, the outsourcing organisation will become responsible for the deficit 

even if they did not act as a guarantor for the admission agreement. At no stage will the Fund, and hence all 

ongoing employing bodies within it, bear any financial risk in respect of any Transferee Admission Body.   

For non-Transferee Admission Bodies whose participation is voluntarily ended either by themselves or the 

Fund, or where a cessation event has been triggered, the Administering Authority must look to protect the 

interests of other ongoing employers.  The actuary will therefore adopt an approach which, to the extent 

reasonably practicable, protects the other employers from the likelihood of any material loss emerging in future: 

a) Where there is a guarantor for future deficits and contributions, the cessation valuation will normally be 

calculated using the ongoing basis as described in Appendix E; 

55



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 016 

 

February 2019  

b) Alternatively, it may be possible to simply transfer the former Admission Body’s liabilities and assets to 

the guarantor, without needing to crystallise any deficit. This approach may be adopted where the 

employer cannot pay the contributions due, and this is within the terms of the guarantee; 

c) Where a guarantor does not exist then, in order to protect other employers in the Fund, the cessation 

liabilities and final deficit (or surplus) will normally be calculated using a “gilts cessation basis”, which is 

more prudent than the ongoing basis.  This has no allowance for potential future investment 

outperformance above gilt yields, and has added allowance for future improvements in life expectancy. 

This could give rise to significant cessation debts being required and makes it unlikely that any surplus 

would be paid to the employer.   

Under (a) and (c), any shortfall would usually be levied on the departing Admission Body as a single lump sum 

payment.  If this is not possible then the Fund would look to any bond, indemnity or guarantee in place for the 

employer. 

In the event that the Fund is not able to recover the required payment in full, then the unpaid amounts fall to be 

shared amongst all of the other employers in the Fund.  This may require an immediate revision to the Rates 

and Adjustments Certificate affecting other employers in the Fund, or instead be reflected in the contribution 

rates set at the next formal valuation following the cessation date 

As an alternative, where the ceasing Admission Body (whether a Transferee Admission Body or a Community 

Admission Body) is continuing in business, the Fund at its absolute discretion reserves the right to enter into an 

agreement with the ceasing Admission Body.  Under this agreement the Fund would accept an appropriate 

alternative security to be held against any deficit, and would carry out the cessation valuation on an ongoing 

basis: deficit recovery payments would be derived from this cessation debt.  This approach would be monitored 

as part of each triennial valuation: the Fund reserves the right to revert to a “gilts cessation basis” and seek 

immediate payment of any funding shortfall identified.  The Administering Authority may need to seek legal 

advice in such cases, as the Body would have no contributing members. 

3.4 Pooled contributions 

The Administering Authority will only allow employer pools to be set up if it legally required (perhaps as a result 

of LGPS Regulations) or where a request is received from a group of employers that they wish to become a 

pool.  

Even if such a request is received, the Administering Authority will only agree to an employer pool if it is 

satisfied that the relevant employers have adequately considered the consequences of the pool and that there is 

a legal agreement in place which makes it impossible for the pool to be dissolved without the agreement of all 

parties, which will include an agreement on how the assets and liabilities will be split upon dissolution. Allowing 

pooling is entirely at the discretion of the Administering Authority.  

Maintained schools do not have a separate legal identity so are not pooled with the relevant local authority; they 

are part-and-parcel of it. However there may be exceptions for specialist or independent schools.  

Those employers which have been pooled are identified in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate. 

3.5 Additional flexibility in return for added security 

The Administering Authority may permit greater flexibility to the employer’s contributions if the employer 

provides added security to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority.   

Such flexibility includes a reduced rate of contribution, an extended deficit recovery period, or permission to join 

a pool with another body (e.g. the Local Authority).  

56



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 017 

 

February 2019  

Such security may include, but is not limited to, a suitable bond, a legally-binding guarantee from an appropriate 

third party, or security over an employer asset of sufficient value. 

The degree of flexibility given may take into account factors such as: 

 the extent of the employer’s deficit; 

 the amount and quality of the security offered; 

 the employer’s financial security and business plan;  

 whether the admission agreement is likely to be open or closed to new entrants. 

3.6 Non ill health early retirement costs 

It is assumed that members’ benefits are payable from the earliest age that the employee could retire without 

incurring a reduction to their benefit (and without requiring their employer’s consent to retire).  (NB the relevant 

age may be different for different periods of service, following the benefit changes from April 2008 and April 

2014).  Employers are required to pay additional contributions (‘strain’ or ‘capitalised costs’) wherever an 

employee retires before attaining this age.  The actuary’s funding basis makes no allowance for premature 

retirement except on grounds of ill-health.      

For any early retirements that occur after 31/3/17, and where the Administering Authority had not previously 

agreed to payment in instalments, all costs must be met by way of a single payment in the year of retirement. 

3.7 Ill health early retirement costs 

Each employer has an ‘ill health allowance’ built into the full contribution rate that is set at each actuarial 

valuation. If an employer decides to insure against the risk of ill-health retirements there will be a reduction to 

the employer’s contribution rate that is the equivalent of the insurance premium rate. 

The Administering Authority receives a cash figure from the actuary for the cost of ill-health retirements that is 

built into each employer’s contribution rate for the three years covered by the actuarial valuation (i.e. for the 

period 1/4/17 – 31/3/20 for the 2016 valuation). Where an employer does not take out ill-health insurance, they 

will be invoiced for any cumulative ill-health retirement costs over the three year period that are above their 

allowance.  

3.8 Ill health insurance 

If an employer provides satisfactory evidence to the Administering Authority of a current insurance policy 

covering ill health early retirement strains, then: 

- the employer’s contribution to the Fund each year is reduced by the amount of that year’s insurance 

premium, so that the total contribution is unchanged, and 

- there is no need for monitoring of allowances. 

The employer must keep the Administering Authority notified of any changes in the insurance policy’s coverage 

or premium terms, or if the policy is ceased. 

3.9 Employers with no remaining active members 

In general an employer ceasing in the Fund, due to the departure of the last active member, will pay a cessation 

debt or receive an exit credit on an appropriate basis (see 3.3, Note (j)) and consequently have no further 

obligation to the Fund. Thereafter it is expected that one of two situations will eventually arise: 

a) The employer’s asset share runs out before all its ex-employees’ benefits have been paid. If this 

employer was a former Transferee Admission Body, the outsourcing employer will become responsible 

57



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 018 

 

February 2019  

for any deficit (even if they did not act as a guarantor within the admission agreement). If the employer 

was not a Transferee Admission Body the other Fund employers will be required to contribute to pay all 

remaining benefits: this will be done by the Fund actuary apportioning the remaining liabilities on a pro-

rata basis at successive formal valuations, but it should be noted that all surpluses in respect of non-

Transferee Admission Bodies will be netted off any deficits so that it is only the net deficit position that will 

be apportioned; 

b) The last ex-employee or dependant dies before the employer’s asset share has been fully utilised.  If this 

employer was a former Transferee Admission Body, the outsourcing employer will receive the benefit of the 

surplus (even if they did not act as a guarantor within the admission agreement). If the employer was not a 

Transferee Admission Body, any surplus will be netted off the deficit of similar types of employers as 

described in 3.9 a). In the event that the net position is a surplus the net surplus will be apportioned; 

In exceptional circumstances the Fund may permit an employer with no remaining active members and a 

cessation debt to continue contributing to the Fund, as opposed to paying a cessation deficit amount. This 

would require the provision of a suitable security or guarantee, as well as a written ongoing commitment to fund 

the remainder of the employer’s obligations over an appropriate period. The Fund would reserve the right to 

invoke the cessation requirements in the future, however.  The Administering Authority may need to seek legal 

advice in such cases, as the employer would have no contributing members. 

3.10 Policies on bulk transfers 

Each case will be treated on its own merits, but in general: 

 The Fund will not pay bulk transfers greater than the lesser of (a) the asset share of the transferring 

employer in the Fund, and (b) the value of the past service liabilities of the transferring members; 

 The Fund will not grant added benefits to members bringing in entitlements from another Fund unless the 

asset transfer is sufficient to meet the added liabilities; 

 The Fund may permit shortfalls to arise on bulk transfers if the Fund employer has suitable strength of 

covenant and commits to meeting that shortfall in an appropriate period.  This may require the employer’s 

Fund contributions to increase between valuations.   

  

58



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 019 

 

February 2019  

4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 

4.1 What is the Fund’s investment strategy? 

The Fund has built up assets over the years, and continues to receive contribution and other income.  All of this 

must be invested in a suitable manner, which is the investment strategy. 

Investment strategy is set by the Local Pension Committee of Leicestershire County Council, after taking 

investment advice.  The precise mix, manager make up and target returns are set out in the Investment Strategy 

Statement (ISS), which is available to members and employers. 

The investment strategy is set for the long-term, but is reviewed annually.  The Fund’s liability profile is one of 

the considerations taken into account when setting investment strategy.   

The same investment strategy is currently followed for all employers. 

4.2 What is the link between funding strategy and investment strategy? 

The Fund must be able to meet all benefit payments as and when they fall due.  These payments will be met by 

contributions (resulting from the funding strategy) or asset returns and income (resulting from the investment 

strategy).  To the extent that investment returns or income fall short, then higher cash contributions are required 

from employers, and vice versa. 

Therefore, the funding and investment strategies are inextricably linked.   

4.3 How does the funding strategy reflect the Fund’s investment strategy? 

In the opinion of the Fund actuary, the current funding policy is consistent with the current investment strategy of 

the Fund.  The asset outperformance assumption contained in the discount rate (see Appendix E3) is within a 

range that would be considered acceptable for funding purposes; it is also considered to be consistent with the 

requirement to take a “prudent longer-term view” of the funding of liabilities as required by the UK Government 

(see Appendix A1). 

However, in the short term – such as the three yearly assessments at formal valuations – there is the scope for 

considerable volatility and there is a material chance that in the short-term and even medium term, asset returns 

will fall short of this target.  The stability measures described in Section 3 will damp down, but not remove, the 

effect on employers’ contributions.   

The Fund does not hold a contingency reserve to protect it against the volatility of equity investments.   

4.4 How does this differ for a large stable employer? 

The Actuary has developed four key measures which capture the essence of the Fund’s strategies, both funding 

and investment: 

 Prudence - the Fund should have a reasonable expectation of being fully funded in the long term; 

 Affordability – how much can employers afford; 

 Stewardship – the assumptions used should be sustainable in the long term, without having to resort to 

overly optimistic assumptions about the future to maintain an apparently healthy funding position; and 

 Stability – employers should not see significant moves in their contribution rates from one year to the 

next, and this will help to provide a more stable budgeting environment. 

The key problem is that the key objectives often conflict.  For example, minimising the long term cost of the 

scheme (i.e. keeping employer rates affordable) is best achieved by investing in higher returning assets e.g. 

59



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 020 

 

February 2019  

equities.  However, equities are also very volatile (i.e. go up and down frequently, and often in fairly large 

moves), which conflicts with the objective to have stable contribution rates. 

Therefore a balance needs to be maintained between risk and reward, which has been considered by the use of 

Asset Liability Modelling: this is a set of calculation techniques applied by the Fund’s actuary, to model the 

range of potential future solvency levels and contribution rates. 

The Actuary was able to model the impact of these four key areas, for the purpose of setting a stabilisation 

approach (see 3.3 Note (b)). The modelling demonstrated that retaining the present investment strategy, 

coupled with constraining employer contribution rate changes as described in 3.3 Note (b), struck an 

appropriate balance between the above objectives.  In particular the stabilisation approach currently adopted 

meets the need for stability of contributions without jeopardising the Administering Authority’s aims of prudent 

stewardship of the Fund.   

Whilst the current stabilisation mechanism is to remain in place until 2020, it should be noted that this will need 

to be reviewed following the 2019 valuation. 

4.5 Does the Fund monitor its overall funding position? 

The Administering Authority monitors the relative funding position, i.e. changes in the relationship between 

asset values and the liabilities value, quarterly.  It reports this to the regular Local Pension Committee meetings. 

  

60



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 021 

 

February 2019  

5 Statutory reporting and comparison to other LGPS Funds 

5.1 Purpose 

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (“Section 13”), the Government Actuary’s 

Department must, following each triennial actuarial valuation, report to the Department of Communities & Local 

Government (DCLG) on each of the LGPS Funds in England & Wales. This report will cover whether, for each 

Fund, the rate of employer contributions are set at an appropriate level to ensure both the solvency and the long 

term cost efficiency of the Fund.   

This additional DCLG oversight may have an impact on the strategy for setting contribution rates at future 

valuations. 

5.2 Solvency 

For the purposes of Section 13, the rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an 

appropriate level to ensure solvency if: 

(a) the rate of employer contributions is set to target a funding level for the Fund of 100%, over an 

appropriate time period and using appropriate actuarial assumptions (where appropriateness is 

considered in both absolute and relative terms in comparison with other funds); and either  

(b) employers collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer contributions, and/or the Fund is 

able to realise contingent assets should future circumstances require, in order to continue to target a 

funding level of 100%; or 

(c) there is an appropriate plan in place should there be, or if there is expected in future to be, a material 

reduction in the capacity of fund employers to increase contributions as might be needed.   

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency 

The rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an appropriate level to ensure long term 

cost efficiency if: 

i. the rate of employer contributions is sufficient to make provision for the cost of current benefit accrual, 

ii. with an appropriate adjustment to that rate for any surplus or deficit in the Fund. 

In assessing whether the above condition is met, DCLG may have regard to various absolute and relative 

considerations.  A relative consideration is primarily concerned with comparing LGPS pension funds with other 

LGPS pension funds.  An absolute consideration is primarily concerned with comparing Funds with a given 

objective benchmark. 

Relative considerations include: 

1. the implied deficit recovery period; and 

2. the investment return required to achieve full funding after 20 years.   

61



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 022 

 

February 2019  

Appendix A – Regulatory framework 

A1 Why does the Fund need an FSS? 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has stated that the purpose of the FSS is:  

 “to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how employers’ pension 

liabilities are best met going forward; 

 to support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer contribution rates as 

possible; and    

 to take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities.” 

These objectives are desirable individually, but may be mutually conflicting. 

The requirement to maintain and publish a FSS is contained in LGPS Regulations which are updated from time 

to time.  In publishing the FSS the Administering Authority has to have regard to any guidance published by 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) and to its Investment 

Strategy Statement (ISS). 

This is the framework within which the Fund’s actuary carries out triennial valuations to set employers’ 

contributions and provides recommendations to the Administering Authority when other funding decisions are 

required, such as when employers join or leave the Fund.  The FSS applies to all employers participating in the 

Fund. 

A2 Does the Administering Authority consult anyone on the FSS? 

Yes.  This is required by LGPS Regulations.  It is covered in more detail by the most recent CIPFA guidance, 

which states that the FSS must first be subject to “consultation with such persons as the authority considers 

appropriate”, and should include “a meaningful dialogue at officer and elected member level with council tax 

raising authorities and with corresponding representatives of other participating employers”. 

In practice, for the Fund, the consultation process for this FSS is  as follows: 

a) A draft version of the FSS was presented to the Local Pension Committee on the 9 November 2018 for 

initial comment; 

b) The draft version of the FSS was issued to all participating employers in November 2018 for comment; 

c) Comments from employers were requested  before 1 February 2019, so that they could be reflected in a 

report to the Local Pension Committee on 15 February 2019 prior to their final approval of the FSS; 

d) Following the approval of the FSS by the Local Pension Committee it became effective from 1
st
 April 

2019., 

A3 How is the FSS published? 

The FSS is made available through the following routes: 

 Published on the website, at http://www.leics.gov.uk/pensions; 

 A copy sent by email to each participating employer in the Fund; 

 Copies made available on request. 

62



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 023 

 

February 2019  

A4 How often is the FSS reviewed? 

The FSS is reviewed in detail at least every three years as part of the triennial valuation.  This version is 

expected to remain unaltered until it is consulted upon as part of the formal process for the next valuation in 

2019.  

It is possible that (usually slight) amendments may be needed within the three year period.  These would be 

needed to reflect any regulatory changes, or alterations to the way the Fund operates (e.g. to accommodate a 

new class of employer). Any such amendments would be consulted upon as appropriate:  

 trivial amendments would be simply notified at the next round of employer communications, 

 amendments affecting only one class of employer would be consulted with those employers,  

 other more significant amendments would be subject to full consultation. 

In any event, meaningful changes to the FSS would need agreement by the Local Pension Committee and 

would be included in the relevant Committee Meeting minutes.  

A5 How does the FSS fit into other Fund documents? 

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding liabilities.  It is not an exhaustive statement of policy 

on all issues, for example there are a number of separate statements published by the Fund including the 

Investment Strategy Statement, Governance Strategy and Communications Strategy.  In addition, the Fund 

publishes an Annual Report and Accounts with up to date information on the Fund.   

These documents can be found on the web at http://www.leics.gov.uk/pensions. 

  

63



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 024 

 

February 2019  

Appendix B – Responsibilities of key parties 

The efficient and effective operation of the Fund needs various parties to each play their part. 

B1 The Administering Authority should:- 

 operate the Fund as per the LGPS Regulations; 

 effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role as Administering Authority 

and a Fund employer; 

 collect employer and employee contributions, and investment income and other amounts due to the Fund; 

 ensure that cash is available to meet benefit payments as and when they fall due; 

 pay from the Fund the relevant benefits and entitlements that are due; 

 invest surplus monies (i.e. contributions and other income which are not immediately needed to pay 

benefits) in accordance with the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) and LGPS Regulations; 

 communicate appropriately with employers so that they fully understand their obligations to the Fund; 

 take appropriate measures to safeguard the Fund against the consequences of employer default; 

 manage the valuation process in consultation with the Fund’s actuary; 

 provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary’s Department to carry out their 

statutory obligations (see Section 5);prepare and maintain a FSS and a ISS, after consultation;  

 notify the Fund’s actuary of material changes which could affect funding (this is covered in a separate 

agreement with the actuary); and  

 monitor all aspects of the fund’s performance and funding and amend the FSS/ISS as necessary and 

appropriate. 

B2 The Individual Employer should:- 

 deduct contributions from employees’ pay correctly; 

 pay all contributions, including their own as determined by the actuary, promptly by the due date; 

 have a policy and exercise discretions within the regulatory framework; 

 make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in respect of, for example, 

augmentation of scheme benefits, early retirement strain; and  

 notify the Administering Authority promptly of all changes to its circumstances, prospects or membership, 

which could affect future funding. 

B3 The Fund Actuary should:- 

 prepare valuations, including the setting of employers’ contribution rates.  This will involve agreeing 

assumptions with the Administering Authority, having regard to the FSS and LGPS Regulations, and 

targeting each employer’s solvency appropriately;  

 provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary’s Department to carry out their 

statutory obligations (see Section 5); 

 provide advice relating to new employers in the Fund, including the level and type of bonds or other forms 

of security (and the monitoring of these); 

 prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers and individual benefit-related matters; 

64



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 025 

 

February 2019  

 assist the Administering Authority in considering possible changes to employer contributions between 

formal valuations, where circumstances suggest this may be necessary; 

 advise on the termination of employers’  participation in the Fund; and 

 fully reflect actuarial professional guidance and requirements in the advice given to the Administering 

Authority. 

B4 Other parties:- 

 investment advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund’s ISS remains appropriate, and 

consistent with this FSS; 

 investment managers, custodians and bankers should all play their part in the effective investment (and 

dis-investment) of Fund assets, in line with the ISS; 

 auditors should comply with their auditing standards, ensure Fund compliance with all requirements, 

monitor and advise on fraud detection, and sign off annual reports and financial statements as required; 

 governance advisers may be appointed to advise the Administering Authority on efficient processes and 

working methods in managing the Fund; 

 legal advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund’s operation and management remains 

fully compliant with all regulations and broader local government requirements, including the 

Administering Authority’s own procedures. 

 the Department for Communities and Local Government (assisted by the Government Actuary’s 

Department) and the Scheme Advisory Board, should work with LGPS Funds to meet Section 13 

requirements. 

  

65



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 026 

 

February 2019  

Appendix C – Key risks and controls 

C1 Types of risk 

The Administering Authority has an active risk management programme in place.  The measures that it has in 

place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings:  

 financial;  

 demographic; 

 regulatory; and 

 governance. 

C2 Financial risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms 

Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 

anticipated returns underpinning valuation of 

liabilities over the long-term. 

Only anticipate long-term return on a relatively prudent 

basis to reduce risk of under-performing. 

Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a 

suitably diversified manner across asset classes, 

geographies, managers, etc. 

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all 

employers.   

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between 

valuations at whole Fund level.    

Inappropriate long-term investment strategy.  Overall investment strategy options considered as an 

integral part of the funding strategy.  Used asset 

liability modelling to measure 4 key outcomes.   

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance. 

Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, 

leading to rise in value placed on liabilities. 

Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund level allows for 

the probability of this within a longer term context.   

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above. 

Some investment in bonds helps to mitigate this risk.   

Active investment manager under-performance 

relative to benchmark. 

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market 

performance and active managers relative to their 

index benchmark.   

Pay and price inflation significantly more than 

anticipated. 

The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real 

returns on assets, net of price and pay increases.  

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early 

warning.  

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this 

66



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 027 

 

February 2019  

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms 

risk.   

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should 

be mindful of the geared effect on pension liabilities of 

any bias in pensionable pay rises towards longer-

serving employees.   

Effect of possible increase in employer’s 

contribution rate on service delivery and 

admission/scheduled bodies 

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed 

as part of the funding strategy.  Other measures are 

also in place to limit sudden increases in contributions. 

Orphaned employers give rise to added costs 

for the Fund 

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or 

security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of this 

happening in the future. 

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost 

spread pro-rata among all employers – (see 3.9). 

 

C3 Demographic risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 

Fund. 

 

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for 

future increases in life expectancy. 

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience 

of over 50 LGPS funds which allows early identification 

of changes in life expectancy that might in turn affect 

the assumptions underpinning the valuation. 

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 

contributing employees declines relative to 

retired employees. 

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider 

seeking monetary amounts rather than % of pay and 

consider alternative investment strategies. 

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements Employers are charged the extra cost of non ill-health 

retirements following each individual decision. 

Employer ill health retirement experience is monitored, 

and insurance is an option. 

Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit 

recovery payments 

In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for 

concern, and will in effect be caught at the next formal 

valuation.  However, there are protections where there 

is concern, as follows: 

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be 

brought out of that mechanism to permit appropriate 

contribution increases (see Note (b) to 3.3). 

For other employers, review of contributions is 

67



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 028 

 

February 2019  

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

permitted in general between valuations (see Note (f) 

to 3.3) and may require a move in deficit contributions 

from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary 

amounts. 

 

C4 Regulatory risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Changes to national pension requirements 

and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising from 

public sector pensions reform. 

 

The Administering Authority considers all consultation 

papers issued by the Government and comments 

where appropriate.  

The results of the most recent reforms have been built 

into the 2016 valuation.  Any changes to member 

contribution rates or benefit levels will be carefully 

communicated with members to minimise possible opt-

outs or adverse actions.  

Time, cost and/or reputational risks associated 

with any DCLG intervention triggered by the 

Section 13 analysis (see Section 5). 

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as 

at prior valuation, and consideration of proposed 

valuation approach relative to anticipated Section 13 

analysis. 

Changes by Government to particular employer 

participation in LGPS Funds, leading to impacts 

on funding and/or investment strategies. 

The Administering Authority considers all consultation 

papers issued by the Government and comments 

where appropriate.  

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes 

on the Fund and amend strategy as appropriate. 

 

C5 Governance risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Administering Authority unaware of structural 

changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. 

large fall in employee members, large number of 

retirements) or not advised of an employer 

closing to new entrants. 

The Administering Authority has a close relationship 

with employing bodies and communicates required 

standards e.g. for submission of data.  

The Actuary may revise the rates and Adjustments 

certificate to increase an employer’s contributions  

between triennial valuations 

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary 

amounts. 

Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or 

is not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in 

The Administering Authority maintains close contact 

with its specialist advisers. 

68



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 029 

 

February 2019  

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

some way Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving 

Elected Members, and recorded appropriately. 

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements 

such as peer review. 

Administering Authority failing to commission 

the Fund Actuary to carry out a termination 

valuation for a departing Admission Body. 

The Administering Authority requires employers with 

Best Value contractors to inform it of forthcoming 

changes. 

Community Admission Bodies’ memberships are 

monitored and, if active membership decreases, steps 

will be taken. 

An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient 

funding or adequacy of a bond. 

 

The Administering Authority believes that it would 

normally be too late to address the position if it was left 

to the time of departure. 

The risk is mitigated by: 

Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme 

employer, or external body, where-ever possible (see 

Notes (h) and (j) to 3.3). 

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and 

encouraging it to take independent actuarial advice.  

Vetting prospective employers before admission. 

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond 

to protect the Fund from various risks. 

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a 

guarantor that is a tax-raising body. 

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular 

intervals (see Note (f) to 3.3). 

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if 

thought appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3). 

 

  

69



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 030 

 

February 2019  

Appendix D – The calculation of Employer contributions 

In Section 2 there was a broad description of the way in which contribution rates are calculated.  This Appendix 

considers these calculations in much more detail. 

The calculations involve actuarial assumptions about future experience, and these are described in detail in 

Appendix E. 

D1 What is the difference between calculations across the whole Fund and calculations for an 

individual employer? 

Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements: 

a) the estimated cost of future benefits being accrued,  referred to as the “Primary  rate”; plus 

an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the employer 

needs to pay, referred to as the Secondary Contribution rate (see D3 below). The contribution rate for each 

employer is measured as above, appropriate for each employer’s funding position and membership. The whole 

Fund position, including that used in reporting to DCLG (see section 5), is calculated in effect as the sum of all 

the individual employer rates. DCLG currently only regulates at whole Fund level, without monitoring individual 

employer positions. 

D2 How is the Primary  Rate calculated?  

The Primary  element of the employer contribution rate is calculated with the aim that these contributions will 

meet benefit payments in respect of members’ future service in the Fund.  This is based upon the cost (in 

excess of members’ contributions) of the benefits which employee members earn from their service each year.   

The Primary  rate is calculated separately for all the employers, although employers within a pool will pay the 

contribution rate applicable to the pool as a whole.   

The Primary rate is calculated such that it is projected to: 

1. meet the required funding target for all future years’ accrual of benefits*, excluding any accrued assets, 

and 

2. within a suitable deficit recovery period (see note 3.3 Note (c) for further details), 

* The projection is for the current active membership where the employer no longer admits new entrants, or 

additionally allows for new entrants where this is appropriate. 

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller developed by the Fund’s actuary Hymans 

Robertson: this allows for a wide range of outcomes as regards key factors such as asset returns (based on the 

Fund’s investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. The measured contributions are calculated such that the 

proportion of outcomes meeting the employer’s funding target (by the end of the time horizon) is equal to the 

required probability.  

The approach includes expenses of administration to the extent that they are borne by the Fund, and includes 

allowances for benefits payable on death in service and on ill health retirement. 

D3 How is the Secondary contribution rate calculated? 

The combined Primary and Secondary rates aim to achieve the employer’s funding target, within the appropriate 

deficit recovery period. 

70



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 031 

 

February 2019  

For the funding target, the Fund actuary agrees the assumptions to be used with the Administering Authority – 

see Appendix E.  These assumptions are used to calculate the present value of all benefit payments expected 

in the future, relating to that employer’s current and former employees, based on pensionable service to the 

valuation date only (i.e. ignoring further benefits to be built up in the future). 

The Fund operates the same target funding level for all employers of 100% of its accrued liabilities valued on 

the ongoing basis, unless otherwise determined (see Section 3).  

The Secondary rate is calculated as the balance over and above the Primary rate, such that the total is 

projected to: 

 meet the required funding target relating to combined past and future service benefit accrual, including 

accrued asset share (see D5 below) 

 within the determined deficit recovery period (see 3.3 Note (c) for further details) 

D4 How is the Solvency / Funding Level calculated? 

The Fund’s actuary is required to report on the “solvency” of the whole Fund in a valuation which should be 

carried out at least once every three years.  As part of this valuation, the actuary will calculate the solvency 

position of each employer. 

‘Solvency” is defined to be the ratio of the market value of the employer’s asset share to the value placed on 

accrued benefits on the Fund actuary’s chosen assumptions.  This quantity is known as a funding level.  

For the value of the employer’s asset share, see D6 below. 

For the value of benefits, the Fund actuary agrees the assumptions to be used with the Administering Authority 

– see Appendix E.  These assumptions are used to calculate the present value of all benefit payments expected 

in the future, relating to that employer’s current and former employees, based on pensionable service to the 

valuation date only (i.e. ignoring further benefits to be built up in the future). 

The Fund operates the same target funding level for all employers of 100% of its accrued liabilities valued on 

the ongoing basis, unless otherwise determined (see Section 3).  

D5 What affects a given employer’s valuation results? 

The results of these calculations for a given individual employer will be affected by: 

 past contributions relative to the cost of accruals of benefits;   

 different liability profiles of employers (e.g. mix of members by age, gender, service vs. salary); 

 the effect of any differences in the valuation basis on the value placed on the employer’s liabilities;  

 any different deficit/surplus spreading periods or phasing of contribution changes;   

 the difference between actual and assumed rises in pensionable pay; 

 the difference between actual and assumed increases to pensions in payment and deferred pensions; 

 the difference between actual and assumed retirements on grounds of ill-health from active status;  

 the difference between actual and assumed amounts of pension ceasing on death; 

 the additional costs of any non ill-health retirements relative to any extra payments made; 

over the period between each triennial valuation. 

71



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 032 

 

February 2019  

Actual investment returns achieved on the Fund between each valuation are applied proportionately across all 

employers, to the extent that employers in effect share the same investment strategy.  Transfers of liabilities 

between employers within the Fund occur automatically within this process, with a sum broadly equivalent to the 

reserve required on the ongoing basis being exchanged between the two employers.    

D6 How is each employer’s asset share calculated? 

The Fund uses the Hymans Robertson Employer Asset Tracking model (“HEAT”), which apportions assets at 

individual employer level allowing for monthly cashflows per employer (e.g. contributions received, benefits paid 

out, investment returns, transfers in and out, etc). This revised approach gives a greater degree of accuracy, for 

employers’ benefit.] 

 

  

72



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 033 

 

February 2019  

Appendix E – Actuarial assumptions 

E1 What are the actuarial assumptions? 

These are expectations of future experience used to place a value on future benefit payments (“the liabilities”). 

Assumptions are made about the amount of benefit payable to members (the financial assumptions) and the 

likelihood or timing of payments (the demographic assumptions).  For example, financial assumptions include 

investment returns, salary growth and pension increases; demographic assumptions include life expectancy, 

probabilities of ill-health early retirement, and proportions of member deaths giving rise to dependants’ benefits.   

Changes in assumptions will affect the measured value of future service accrual and past service liabilities, and 

hence the measured value of the past service deficit.  However, different assumptions will not affect the actual 

benefits payable by the Fund in future. 

The combination of all assumptions is described as the “basis”.  A more optimistic basis might involve higher 

assumed investment returns (discount rate), or lower assumed salary growth, pension increases or life 

expectancy; a more optimistic basis will give lower funding targets  and lower employer costs. A more prudent 

basis will give higher funding targets and higher employer costs. 

E2 What basis is used by the Fund? 

The Fund’s standard funding basis is described as the “ongoing basis”, which applies to most employers in most 

circumstances.  This is described in more detail below.  It anticipates employers remaining in the Fund in the 

long term. 

However, in certain circumstances, typically where the employer is not expected to remain in the Fund long 

term, a more prudent basis applies: see Note (a) to 3.3. 

E3 What assumptions are made in the ongoing basis? 

a) Investment return / discount rate 

The key financial assumption is the anticipated return on the Fund’s investments.  This “discount rate” 

assumption makes allowance for an anticipated out-performance of Fund returns relative to long term yields on 

UK Government bonds (“gilts”).  There is, however, no guarantee that Fund returns will out-perform gilts.  The 

risk is greater when measured over short periods such as the three years between formal actuarial valuations, 

when the actual returns and assumed returns can deviate sharply.   

Given the very long-term nature of the liabilities, a long term view of prospective asset returns is taken.  The 

long term in this context would be 20 to 30 years or more.   

For the purpose of the triennial funding valuation at 31 March 2016 and setting contribution rates effective from 

1 April 2017, the Fund actuary has assumed that future investment returns earned by the Fund over the long 

term will be 1.8% per annum greater than gilt yields at the time of the valuation (this is the same as that used at 

the 2013 valuation).  In the opinion of the Fund actuary, based on the current investment strategy of the Fund, 

this asset out-performance assumption is within a range that would be considered acceptable for the purposes 

of the funding valuation.  

  

73



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 034 

 

February 2019  

b) Salary growth 

Pay for public sector employees is currently subject to restriction by the UK Government for the immediate 

future.  Although this pay restriction does not officially apply to local government and associated employers, it is 

strongly expected that they are likely to show similar restraint in respect of pay awards.  Based on long term 

historical analysis of the membership in LGPS funds, the salary increase assumption at the 2016 valuation has 

been set at the expected future level of increase in the retail prices index (RPI) per annum.  This is a change 

from the previous valuation, which assumed long term pay growth of RPI + 1% p.a.  The change has led to a 

reduction in the funding target (all other things being equal). 

c) Pension increases 

Since 2011 the consumer prices index (CPI), rather than RPI, has been the basis for increases to public sector 

pensions in deferment and in payment.  Note that the basis of such increases is set by the Government, and is 

not under the control of the Fund or any employers. 

As at the previous valuation, we derive our assumption for RPI from market data as the difference between the 

yield on long-dated fixed interest and index-linked government bonds.  This is then reduced to arrive at the CPI 

assumption, to allow for the “formula effect” of the difference between RPI and CPI.  At this valuation, we 

propose a reduction of 1.0% per annum.  This is a larger reduction than at 2013, which will serve to reduce the 

value placed on the Fund’s liabilities (all other things being equal).  

d) Life expectancy 

The demographic assumptions are intended to be best estimates of future experience in the Fund based on 

past experience of LGPS funds which participate in Club Vita, the longevity analytics service used by the Fund, 

and endorsed by the actuary.   

The longevity assumptions that have been adopted at this valuation are a bespoke set of “VitaCurves”, 

produced by the Club Vita’s detailed analysis, which are specifically tailored to fit the membership profile of the 

Fund.  These curves are based on the data provided by the Fund for the purposes of this valuation.  

It is acknowledged that future life expectancy and, in particular, the allowance for future improvements in life 

expectancy, is uncertain.  There is a consensus amongst actuaries, demographers and medical experts that life 

expectancy is likely to improve in the future.  Allowance has been made in the ongoing valuation basis for future 

improvements in line with 2013 version of the Continuous Mortality Investigation model published by the 

Actuarial Profession  projections (assuming the current rate of improvements has reached a peak) and a long 

term minimum rate of 1.25% per annum. This is a similar allowance for future improvements that was made in 

2013. 

The combined effect of the above changes from the 2013 valuation approach, is to reduce life expectancy by 

around 0.4 years on average, which reduces the funding target all other things being equal.  The approach 

taken is considered reasonable in light of the long term nature of the Fund and the assumed level of security 

underpinning members’ benefits 

e) General 

The same financial assumptions are adopted for all employers, in deriving the funding target  and the Primary 

and Secondary rates;  as described in (3.3), these calculated figures are translated in different ways into 

employer contributions, depending on the employer’s circumstances. 

The demographic assumptions, in particular the life expectancy assumption, in effect vary by type of member 

and so reflect the different membership profiles of employers. 

  

74



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 035 

 

February 2019  

Appendix F – Glossary 

Actuarial 

assumptions/basis 

The combined set of assumptions made by the actuary, regarding the future, to 

calculate the value of liabilities.  The main assumptions will relate to the discount 

rate, salary growth, pension increases and longevity.  More prudent assumptions 

will give a higher liability value, whereas more optimistic assumptions will give a 

lower value.  

Administering 

Authority 

The council with statutory responsibility for running the Fund, in effect the Fund’s 

“trustees”. 

Admission Bodies Employers which voluntarily participate in the Fund, so that their employees and ex-

employees are members.  There will be an Admission Agreement setting out the 

employer’s obligations.  For more details (see 2.5). 

  

Covenant The assessed financial strength of the employer. A strong covenant indicates a 

greater ability (and willingness) to pay for pension obligations in the long run. A 

weaker covenant means that it appears that the employer may have difficulties 

meeting its pension obligations in full over the longer term. 

Deficit The shortfall between the assets value and the liabilities value.  This relates to 

assets and liabilities built up to date, and ignores the future build-up of pension 

(which in effect is assumed to be met by future contributions).  

Deficit 

repair/recovery 

period 

The target length of time over which the current deficit is intended to be paid off.  A 

shorter period will give rise to a higher annual Secondary Contribution rate (deficit 

repair contribution), and vice versa.  

Designating 

Employer 

Employers such as town and parish councils that are able to participate in the LGPS 

via resolution.  These employers can designate which of their employees are 

eligible to join the Fund. 

Discount rate The annual rate at which future assumed cashflows (in and out of the Fund) are 

discounted to the present day.  This is necessary to provide a liabilities value 

which is consistent with the present day value of the assets, to calculate the deficit. 

A lower discount rate gives a higher liabilities value, and vice versa.  It is  used in 

the calculation of the Primary rate and Secondary contribution rate..  

Employer An individual participating body in the Fund, which employs (or used to employ) 

members of the Fund.  Normally the assets and liabilities values for each 

employer are individually tracked, together with its Primary contribution rate  at 

each valuation.  

Funding level 

Funding target   The actuarially calculated present value of all pension entitlements of all members 

of the Fund, built up to date.  This is compared with the present market value of 

Fund assets to derive the deficit.  It is calculated on a chosen set of actuarial 

The ratio of assets value to liabilities value: for further details (see 2.2). 

The actuarially calculated present value of all pension entitlements of all members 

of the Fund, built up to date.  This is compared with the present market value of 

Fund assets to derive the deficit.  It is calculated on a chosen set of actuarial 

assumptions. 

75



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 036 

 

February 2019  

assumptions. 

 

  

Gilt A UK Government bond, i.e. a promise by the Government to pay interest and 

capital as per the terms of that particular gilt, in return for an initial payment of 

capital by the purchaser. Gilts can be “fixed interest”, where the interest payments 

are level throughout the gilt’s term, or “index-linked” where the interest payments 

vary each year in line with a specified index (usually RPI). Gilts can be bought as 

assets by the Fund, but their main use in funding is as an objective measure of 

solvency. 

Guarantee / 

guarantor 

A formal promise by a third party (the guarantor) that it will meet any pension 

obligations not met by a specified employer. The presence of a guarantor will mean, 

for instance, that the Fund can consider the employer’s covenant to be as strong 

as its guarantor’s. 

Letting employer An employer which outsources or transfers a part of its services and workforce to 

another employer (usually a contractor). The contractor will pay towards the LGPS 

benefits accrued by the transferring members, but ultimately the obligation to pay 

for these benefits will revert to the letting employer. A letting employer will usually 

be a local authority, but can sometimes be another type of employer such as an 

Academy. 

Liabilities The actuarially calculated present value of all pension entitlements of all members 

of the Fund, built up to date.  This is compared with the present market value of 

Fund assets to derive the deficit.  It is calculated on a chosen set of actuarial 

assumptions.  

LGPS The Local Government Pension Scheme, a public sector pension arrangement put 

in place via Government Regulations, for workers in local government.  These 

Regulations also dictate eligibility (particularly for Scheduled Bodies), members’ 

contribution rates, benefit calculations and certain governance requirements.  The 

LGPS is divided into 101 Funds which map the UK.  Each LGPS Fund is 

autonomous to the extent not dictated by Regulations, e.g. regarding investment 

strategy, employer contributions and choice of advisers.  

Maturity A general term to describe a Fund (or an employer’s position within a Fund) where 

the members are closer to retirement (or more of them already retired) and the 

investment time horizon is shorter.  This has implications for investment strategy 

and, consequently, funding strategy.  

Members The individuals who have built up (and may still be building up) entitlement in the 

Fund.  They are divided into actives (current employee members), deferreds (ex-

employees who have not yet retired) and pensioners (ex-employees who have now 

retired, and dependants of deceased ex-employees).  

  

Pooling Employers may be grouped together for the purpose of calculating contribution 

rates, so that their combined membership and asset shares are used to calculate a 

76



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 037 

 

February 2019  

single contribution rate applicable to all employers in the pool. A pool may still 

require each individual employer to ultimately pay for its own share of deficit, or (if 

formally agreed) it may allow deficits to be passed from one employer to another. 

For further details of the Fund’s current pooling policy (see 3.4). 

Primary rate The employer contribution rate required to pay for ongoing accrual of active 

members’ benefits (including an allowance for administrative expenses). See 

Appendix D for further details. 

Profile The profile of an employer’s membership or liability reflects various measurements 

of that employer’s members, ie current and former employees. This includes: the 

proportions which are active, deferred or pensioner; the average ages of each 

category; the varying salary or pension levels; the lengths of service of active 

members vs their salary levels, etc. A membership (or liability) profile might be 

measured for its maturity also. 

Rates and 

Adjustments 

Certificate 

A formal document required by the LGPS Regulations, which must be updated at 

least every three years at the conclusion of the formal valuation. This is completed 

by the actuary and confirms the contributions to be paid by each employer (or pool 

of employers) in the Fund for the three year period until the next valuation is 

completed. 

Scheduled Bodies  Types of employer explicitly defined in the LGPS Regulations, whose employers 

must be offered membership of their local LGPS Fund.  These include Councils, 

colleges, universities, academies, police and fire authorities etc, other than 

employees who have entitlement to a different public sector pension scheme (e.g. 

teachers, police and fire officers, university lecturers).  

Secondary rate The difference between the employer’s actual and Primary Rates. In broad terms, 

this relates to the shortfall of its asset share to its funding target. See Appendix D 

for further details.  

  

Stabilisation Any method used to smooth out changes in employer contributions from one year to 

the next.  This is very broadly required by the LGPS Regulations, but in practice is 

particularly employed for large stable employers in the Fund.  Different methods 

may involve: probability-based modelling of future market movements; longer deficit 

recovery periods; higher discount rates; or some combination of these.  

  

Valuation An actuarial investigation to calculate the liabilities, future service contribution rate 

and common contribution rate for a Fund, and usually individual employers too.  

This is normally carried out in full every three years (last done as at 31 March 

2016), but can be approximately updated at other times.  The assets value is based 

on market values at the valuation date, and the liabilities value and contribution 

rates are based on long term bond market yields at that date also. 

 

77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 15 FEBRUARY 2019   
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

MINISTRY FOR HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(MHCLG) CONSULTATION – ASSET POOLING 

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the impact of the Ministry 
for Housing, Communities and Local Government consultation concerning the draft 
statutory guidance on asset pooling. 

  
Background 

 
2. In the 2015 Budget Government announced its intention for Local Government 

Pension Schemes (LGPS) to pool investments. The stated aims were: 
a. to deliver significantly reduced costs while maintaining overall investment 

performance 
b. enable the authorities to develop the capacity and capability to become a 

world leader in infrastructure investment and help drive growth 
 

3. On 1st April 2018 LGPS Central went live. This is the vehicle that the Leicestershire 
Pension Fund (the Fund), alongside 8 other schemes will use to pool assets.   
 

4. MHCLG issued draft statutory guidance on asset pooling for consultation on 3rd 
January 2019.  The consultation runs until 28 March 2019. 
 

5. The guidance, which will have statutory force, sets out the requirements on 
administering authorities in relation to asset pooling. 
 

Local Government Pensions Scheme: Draft Statutory guidance  
 

6. The guidance is split into seven sections: Definitions, Structure and Scale, 
Governance, Transition of assets to the pool, Making new investments outside the 
pool, Infrastructure Investment and Reporting. Brief summaries of these are 
provided below.  
 

Structure and scale 
 

7. This section reiterates the aims of pooling, that all administering authorities must 
pool their assets and that pool members must appoint a pool company to implement 
their investment strategies. It also states that a pool company must be a company 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA).  It also states that Pool Bodies 
must regularly review the provision of assets to the pool ensuring value for money 

 
79 Agenda Item 9



 

and cost transparency.  Pool members should consider moving from active to 
passive investment where active management has not generated better net of fees 
performance over a reasonable period. 
 

8. Due to the establishment of LGPS Central, the majority of requirements have been 
met. The expectations are that individual funds receive reports on savings achieved 
by the pool allowing scrutiny and challenge to ensure cost savings are being 
delivered.  The fund is also required to regularly review the balance between active 
and passive management of assets. 
 

Governance 
 

9. Pool members through their own governance arrangements will be “responsible for 
effective governance and for holding pool companies and other service providers to 
account”. Pension committees should take a long term view of the potential benefits 
of pooling and should not simply seek to minimise costs in the short term. 
 

10. The guidance confirms that the strategic asset allocation remains the responsibility 
of the fund, recognising the variety of liabilities and cash-flow forecasts. 
 

11. To discharge these responsibilities a Joint Committee has been established, as the 
body for LGPS Central’s pool members to provide oversight of the delivery of the 
objectives of the pool, the delivery of client service, the delivery against the pool’s 
business case and to deal with common investor issues. 
 

12. A Shareholders’ Forum has also been established, whose primary role is to oversee 
the operation and performance of LGPS Central Ltd, the investment management 
company set up by the Pool, and to represent the ownership rights and interests of 
the Shareholding Councils within the Pool. 
 

Transition of Assets to the Pool 
 

13. Assets should be transitioned over a relatively short period of time and should seek 
to minimise transition costs while balancing speed, cost and timing. Some existing 
investments may be retained by pool members on a temporary basis citing assets 
that need to be held to maturity for example.  Direct Property assets may also be 
retained by pool members where these can be more effectively managed.  For 
assets held outside the pool, pool members should regularly review these assets (at 
least every 3 years) to ensure the rationale for keeping the assets outside the pool 
is robust. 
 

14. The consultation clarifies the ability for transition costs to be shared between pool 
members. This should enable cost sharing to be made in a fair manner. 
 

15. The Fund will be required to review the rational of keeping assets outside of the 
pool and whether Central can offer any management benefits. This is in line with 
the approach taken by the Fund to date. 
 

Making new investments outside the pool 
 

16. All new investments should be made through the pool from 2020 and only in very 
exceptional circumstances should investments be made outside the pool. 
Exceptions are allowed in the following circumstances: 

80



 

 
a. local initiatives within the geographical area of the pool member or in 

products tailored to particular liabilities specific to that pool member (max 5% 
of assets). 

b. Investments considered essential to delivery of the investment strategy that 
cannot be fulfilled by the pool.  Allowed following consultation with the pool 
company and until the company can put a product in place 

 
17. The Fund influences Central’s product development proposals based upon its 

strategic asset allocation. The key areas that are unlikely to have a product 
developed by Central are Timberland and the Opportunity Pool. The investment 
strategy will need to evolve so that the Fund’s objectives can still be me, albeit with 
a slightly different asset allocation. For example Property/Infrastructure could be 
suitable Timberland alternatives and co-investment or greater equity exposure 
could make up for the superior returns offered by the Opportunity Pool. Any 
exceptional circumstances will be discussed with Central and approval sought from 
the Investment Subcommittee or Pensions Committee in the usual way. 
 

Infrastructure investment 
18. The consultation states “there is no target for infrastructure investment for pool 

members or pools”. Pool members may invest in their own geographical region but 
asset selection and allocation should be carried out by the pool. 
 

19. Whilst MHCLG have avoided telling funds how to invest it is likely that they will 

continue to try and influence a greater degree of infrastructure investment. There is 

a stated expectation of funds moving “towards levels of infrastructure investment 
similar to overseas pension funds”. 
 

20. The proportion of infrastructure investments across a range of pension funds world 
wide range from 0% to 34% with typically most being in the 7-10% range. The 
Fund’s infrastructure allocation is currently set at 6% and Timberland a further 3%. 
Hence it is likely that the Fund will reach a satisfactory level naturally. 
 

Reporting 
 

21. The consultation sets out a range of requirements for the annual report that covers 
the progress being made on pooling and comparisons between active and passive 
management. Funds will also be required to provide a rationale for any assets that 
continue to be held outside the pool. The Scheme Advisory Board will publish a 
consolidate report on pooling nationally. 
 

22. The reporting requirements do not raise any immediate concerns. Not all of the 
factors are within our control; the most obvious being the Fund can only make 
pooled investments when a product is available. This is likely to be just a short term 
reporting issue rather than a financial problem. 
 

Conclusion 
 
 

23. The consultation is broadly in line with expectations and reinforces the 
Government’s stated aims. A report from Hymans Robertson outlining their view on 
the consultation is attached as an appendix to this report; this does not highlight any 

81



 

significant concerns. The Fund can only transition to the pool as quickly as there 
are products available, but providing a pragmatic position is taken by Central this 
should not be a significant issue. As a result the Fund does not intent to respond 
directly to the consultation. 

 
 
Recommendation 

 
24. It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee note the report. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

25. None. 
 
Appendix 
 
Hymans Roberston Briefing Note - Local Government Pension Scheme: Draft Statutory 

guidance on asset pooling.   
 
Background Papers 

 
26.  None 

 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk  

82



Consultation on Statutory Pooling Guidance | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2019 001 
HTTP://COLLABOR8.HYMANS.CO.UK/PRACTICES/INV/LGPSINV/POOLING/190111LGPSCONSULATIONINTERNALSUMMARY.DOCX 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme: Draft Statutory guidance 
on asset pooling 

This note provides factual information relating to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s 

informal consultation on the Draft Statutory guidance on asset pooling.  This note is addressed to the Fund’s 

Officers and Committee(s).  It is not for public distribution. 

Timetable 

The consultation was issued on 3 January 2019, it is open for 12 weeks and will close on 28 March.  It is deemed 

an informal consultation which is addressed to “interested parties only, including the Scheme Advisory Board, 

Pensions Committees, Local Pension Boards, the pool Joint Committees or equivalent, the Cross Pool 

Collaboration Group, the pool operating companies where owned by participating funds, CIPFA and ALATS”. The 

SAB secretariat will be assisting MHCLG with the consultation but all responses should be sent to 

LGPensions@communities.gov.uk. 

Background 

The guidance sets out the requirements on administering authorities in relation to pooling assets and replaces 

“the section at pages 7 to 8 of Part 2 of Guidance for Preparing and Maintaining an Investment Strategy, issued in 

September 2016 and revised in July 2017, which deals with regulation 7(2)(d) of the 2016 Regulations. It also 

replaces Local Government Pension Scheme: Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance, issued in November 

2015.”  As a reminder, we attach links to the replaced documents at the foot of this document1. 

Overview 

Further to the introduction the consultation is broken into 7 sections which we set out below.  As outlined in the 

title, the governance is statutory.  Throughout the document, there is frequent use of certain words, in particular 

“must”, “should” and “may” in relation to different points being made.  Each highlights the extent to which 

adherence is expected. 

Definitions 

This section sets out a number of definitions relating to pooling, including,  

‘Pool governance body’ the body used by pool members to oversee the operation of the pool and ensure that 

the democratic link to pool members is maintained (for example, Joint Committees and officer committees). 

‘Pool company’ the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regulated company which undertakes selection, 

appointment, dismissal and variation of terms of investment managers, and provides and operates pool vehicles 

for pool members.  

‘Pool fund’ a regulated unitised fund structure operated by a regulated pool company, such as an Authorised 

Contractual Scheme (ACS). 

‘Pool member’ an LGPS administering authority which has committed to invest in an LGPS pool and participates 

in its governance. 

It also defines Pool vehicles, retained assets and local assets which are all covered in later sections of the 

consultation. 

                                                           

1 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479925/cr
iteria_and_guidance_for_investment_reform.pdf http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/statgui/ew/201609ISS.pdf 
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/statgui/ew/201707ISS.pdf 

83

mailto:LGPensions@communities.gov.uk
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479925/criteria_and_guidance_for_investment_reform.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/479925/criteria_and_guidance_for_investment_reform.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/statgui/ew/201609ISS.pdf
http://lgpslibrary.org/assets/statgui/ew/201707ISS.pdf


Consultation on Statutory Pooling Guidance | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2019 002 
HTTP://COLLABOR8.HYMANS.CO.UK/PRACTICES/INV/LGPSINV/POOLING/190111LGPSCONSULATIONINTERNALSUMMARY.DOCX 

 

Structure and scale 

This section reiterates the aims of pooling, that all administering authorities must pool their assets and that pool 

members must appoint a pool company or companies to implement their investment strategies, stating clearly, “It 

is for the pool companies to decide which investment managers to use for pool vehicles”.  It also states that a 

pool company must be a company regulated by the FCA 

It is stated that Pool governance bodies, working with the Pool company, “should regularly review the provision of 

services to the pool, and the process of procurement, to ensure value for money and cost transparency” and “the 

balance between active and passive management in the light of performance net of total costs. They should 

consider moving from active to passive management where active management has not generated better net 

performance over a reasonable period”.  

Governance 

It was stated that pool governance bodies must be established in order to “set the direction of the pool and hold 

the pool company to account” while pool members through their own governance arrangements will be 

“responsible for effective governance and for holding pool companies and other service providers to account”.  In 

addition “Strategic asset allocation remains the responsibility of pool members”.  It also states Pension 

Committees should take a long term view of the potential benefits of pooling, taking into account “the benefits 

across the pool and across the scheme as a whole…and should not seek simply to minimise costs in the short 

term.”  It also notes that Pension Boards can have a role in governance arrangements. 

It also states that part of pool governance bodies’ role is to decide the pool’s policy on which aspects of asset 

allocation are “strategic” and which are “tactical”, with the guidance stating that, “governance bodies should be 

mindful of the trade-off between greater choice and lower costs”.  It is also noted that the position between what is 

deemed strategic and what is tactical is something that might change over time.  It is also states that, “Pool 

members should set out in their FSS and ISS how they, through the pool governance body, have balanced these 

considerations and how they will keep this under regular review”. 

Transition of assets to the pool 

There are a number of comments on treatment of costs, including  

“Transition of listed assets should take place over a relatively short period.” and “..should see to minimise 

transition costs to pool members while effectively balancing speed, cost and timing, taking into account exit or 

penalty costs and opportunities for crossing trades.” And  “Inter-authority payments (or other transfers of value) 

may be desirable in order to share these costs equitably between pool members. The Government’s view is that 

such payments are investment costs within Regulation 4(5) of the 2016 Regulations, and payments made by a 

pool member to meet its agreed share of costs may be charged to the fund of that pool member, whether the 

payments are made to other pool members, the pool company, or another body by agreement.” 

It is noted that “In exceptional cases, some existing investments may be retained by pool members on a 

temporary basis” citing assets that need to be held to maturity as an example.  It also notes that “Pool members 

may also retain existing direct property assets where these may be more effectively managed by pool members” 

and “…pool members may retain the management of existing long term investment contracts where the penalty 

for early exit or transfer of management would be significant. These may include life insurance contracts (‘life 

funds’) accessed by pool members for the purpose of passive equity investment, and some infrastructure 

investments.”  

For assets held outside the pool it is stated that, “Pool members, working with the pool company, should 

undertake regular reviews (at least every three years) of retained assets and the rationale for keeping these 

assets outside the pool.”  

84



Consultation on Statutory Pooling Guidance | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2019 003 
HTTP://COLLABOR8.HYMANS.CO.UK/PRACTICES/INV/LGPSINV/POOLING/190111LGPSCONSULATIONINTERNALSUMMARY.DOCX 

 

Making new investments outside the pool 

There is an expectation that new investments will be made through the pool company with 2020 being set as the 

target timescale and a statement that “pool members should make new investments outside the pool only in very 

limited circumstances.”   

Exceptions (to pool members investing in their own pool) include,  

“A small proportion of a pool member’s assets may be invested in local initiatives within the geographical area of 

the pool member or in products tailored to particular liabilities specific to that pool member”, with clarity that Local 

assets should, “not normally exceed an aggregate 5% of the value of the pool member’s assets at the point of 

investment and be subject to a similar assessment of risk, return and fit with investment strategy as any other 

investment.”; or  “may invest ….in a pool other than their own where collaboration across pools or specialism by 

pools can deliver improved net of fee returns” 

Infrastructure investment 

There are a number of infrastructure related aspects noted in the document.  Although supportive of the asset 

class, the consultation states, “There is no target for infrastructure investment for pool members or pools, but pool 

members are expected to set an ambition on investment in this area.” “Government expects pool companies to 

provide the capability and capacity for pools over time to move towards levels of infrastructure investment similar 

to overseas pension funds of comparable aggregate size”. 

It is explicitly stated that Pools are expected to provide a range of options to accessing the asset class and may 

offer brown and greenfield exposure to the asset class.  There is also comment that, “Pool members may invest 

in their own geographic areas but the asset selection and allocation decisions should normally be taken by the 

pool company in order to manage any potential conflicts of interest effectively, maintain propriety, and ensure 

robust evaluation of the case for investment”.  The consultation states for the purpose of annual accounts 

CIFPA’s definition for the asset class should be used (which includes a comment that conventional property is not 

normally included).  The consultation also makes it clear that residential property is defined as infrastructure.  

Reporting 

There are a number of cost and pooling related requirements, including stating that, “Pool members are required 

to report total investment costs and performance against benchmarks publicly and transparently in their annual 

reports, following the CIPFA guidance Preparing the Annual Report, with effect from the 2018-19 report.” 

The CIPFA guidance is also to be used when it comes to defining which assets are to be deemed pool assets, 

“‘pooled assets’ are those for which implementation of the investment strategy – i.e. the selection, appointment, 

dismissal and variation of terms for the investment managers (including internal managers) – has been 

contractually, transferred to a third party out with the individual pension fund’s control.”  Pool members should 

“provide a rationale for all assets continuing to be held outside the pool, including the planned end date and 

performance net of costs including a comparison which costs of any comparable pool vehicles. They should also 

set out a high level plan for transition of assets.” 

It is stated that the SAB will publish an annual report on the pools based on data from the pool member annual 

reports.  It is also stated that pool companies should report in line with the SAB Code of Cost Transparency, with 

pool companies requiring their internal and external investment managers to do likewise.   The final point on the 

consultation is to state that “Pool members are required to report any change which results in failure to meet the 

requirements of this guidance to the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) and to MHCLG.” 

Prepared, for and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP, by:- 

David Walker, Head of LGPS Investment                        William Marshall, Head of LGPS Investment Clients 

 

85



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 15 FEBRUARY 2019   
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

LGPS CENTRAL UPDATE 
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on progress towards pooling 
of the Pension Fund. 

  
Background 

 
2. LGPS Central successfully went live on 1st April 2018, without any major issues. 

 
3. The Leicestershire Fund will be one of 9 schemes that pool pension assets within 

the LGPS Central Pension Pool. 
 

4. Pooling will take several years to implement, due to the need to set-up sub-funds by 
Central and then amalgamate the existing holdings for the 9 partner schemes. 
 

5. Local management of investments will be required in the medium term for closed-
ended funds, whereby an investment manager is appointed to fulfil a specific 
purpose via a pooled fund which is set up to run for a specified period of time. 
These investments will be managed locally until the capital is repaid, due to the lack 
of a natural ability to exit the investment in the event of issues arising.  
 
 

LGPS Central Update 
 

Global Equities Active Multi-Manager Fund 
 

6. The Fund currently employs two managers in this class of assets, Kempen and KBI, 
with a total of £316m of assets under management.  Four other pension funds have 
committed to invest from the launch of Central’s fund taking the estimated size of 
this sub-fund to £2.1bn. 
 

7. Activity to transition the assets from individual funds to the three new managers is 
taking place and will be completed in February. Macquarie have been appointed to 
manage the transition and are co-ordinating activity between the different 
investment managers and pension funds. Despite market volatility no significant 
issues have been identified at this stage.  
 

 
87 Agenda Item 10



 

Private Equity Fund 
 

8. The Fund has a £201 million allocation to Private Equity, this is managed by Adams 
Street Partners (ASP). This is primarily through fund of fund arrangements, i.e. ASP 
select funds to invest in rather than identifying specific companies themselves. 
 

9. The investments are in closed ended funds, which mean that money will be 
returned to the Fund and is not invested indefinitely. This requires the Fund to 
continually reinvest to maintain its target allocation.  To maintain the Fund’s target 
allocation it is estimated that £10 million should be invested in the current financial 
year.  
 

10. An initial cost saving is expected, but will not be confirmed until the investment has 
been made with individual private equity managers. LGPS Central are offering to 
explore co-investment opportunities. Co-investment is where an investment is made 
in a specific company alongside a private equity fund manager, who lead on the 
due diligence. These investments have a higher risk profile, but also the potential 
for superior returns at lower cost. The Fund has not taken up the co-investment 
option at this time, but it is worthy of consideration in the future. 

 
11. The Private Equity Fund’s launch was delayed due to FCA and other approvals, this 

has now been resolved and the fund launched at the end of January. Four other 
pension funds are investing alongside Leicestershire bringing the total commitment 
to £257m, in the 2018 vintage. 
 

12. The commitments will be called by Central over the next six months and invested 
with a variety of managers. Central are likely to open up a 2019 vintage for 
investment later this year.   

 
Global Emerging Markets Fund 
 
13. Currently the Fund has £169m of actively managed investments in emerging market 

equities. This is managed by Delaware Investments (part of Macquarie Group). 
LGPS Central have completed the procurement process and have appointed three 
managers to run the Global Emerging Markets Fund. The managers will normally 
be responsible for an equal share of the total assets this is provisionally expected to 
be £1.5bn. 
 

14. The managers are expected to be “stock pickers” rather than having a defined style. 
Further information is expected to be released during February and a transition date 
for investors expected in the summer. 

 
Infrastructure 
 
15. The Fund has a £215 million allocation to Infrastructure; this is managed by IFM, 

KKR and JP Morgan. The KKR investment is closed ended with capital not 
expected to be fully returned until 2027. The other funds are open ended so could 
potentially be redeemed or transferred to Central’s management. 
 

16. Central are progressing development of an Infrastructure Fund for launch in 2019. 
Similarly to the Private Equity Fund there are expected to be opportunities to just 
invest with infrastructure managers and/or for co-investment in specific schemes.  

 

88



 

Factor Based Investing 
 

17. The traditional approach to passive investing has been to use the market 
capitalisation (size) of companies within an index (e.g. FTSE 100) to determine the 
relative level of investment.  Over recent years a range of alternative approaches 
have been developed often described as ‘factor-based investing’. Factor-based 
investing is a rules-based approach where individual investments are selected 
based on factors associated with higher returns, for example stability of earnings or 
disparity between book value and share price. These factors have been identified 
by academic research as being able to identify stocks should deliver strong risk-
adjusted returns over the long-term. 
 

18. The fund currently holds £346m of RAFI funds that use factors to determine where 
the investments should be made. 
 

19. Central are currently developing a factor based fund that could act as an alternative 
investment to the RAFI holding. Central also offer a Dividend Aristocrats fund, 
where only companies with a strong historic track record of dividend growth are 
invested in. 
 

Other Matters 
 

20. LGPS Central has identified a new Chief Executive, subject to ratification by 
shareholders. The recruitment process was led by the Nominations committee of 
LGPS Central’s Board, which consists of three non-executive directors.   
 

21. The recruitment process targeted individuals that not only had the previous 
experience of a FCA regulated asset management business, but also would 
appreciate the public sector ethos involved in pooling. 
 

22. During January the Fund signed three advisory and execution mandates with LGPS 
Central. Under the mandates LGPS Central will undertake the monitoring of the 
investment managers and advise on actions required. The fund maintains 
responsibility for taking any decisions relating to the investments. The mandates 
chosen are for Emerging Markets Debt, Property and Targeted Return. The 
rationale for selecting these mandates if the extended period of time before and 
alternative LGPS Central offer is expected to be ready. 
 

23. The Property mandate is expected to require a greater degree of oversight due to 
expected capital returns over the next few years. A decision is required on where to 
re-invest this money, hence aligning as closely as possible to LGPS Central’s future 
plans will be advantageous. 

 
Recommendation 

 
24. It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee notes the report.  

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

25. None. 
 
Appendix 
 

89



 

LGPS Central Quarterly Stewardship Report 2018 
 
Background Papers 

 
None 

 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk  

90



 
 

 
 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 15th FEBRUARY 2019   
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 
 
Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of any changes relating to the 
risk management and internal controls of the Pension Fund, as stipulated in the 
Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice. 

 
 

Background 
 

2. In April 2015 The Pension Regulator (TPR) published its code of practise on 
governance and administration of public service pension schemes. This introduced 
a number of areas pension administrators need to record and members be kept 
aware of. 
 

3. One area within the code is risk, more specifically ‘risk management and internal 
controls’, which the code states should be a standing item on each Pension Board 
and Pension Committee agenda. 

 
4. The Leicestershire Fund already manages risk and has a risk register in place that 

is regularly reviewed by officers. Internal and external audit also consider risks 
within Pensions and highlight any risk concerns. However, in order to comply with 
the code the Director of Finance has agreed to have this as a standard item on both 
agendas. 
 
 

Risk Register 
 

5. The updated Risk Register is attached as an appendix to this report. Progress 
updates have been made to risks 2,6 and 10. The impact on risk 3 has been 
changed from 4 to 3 
 

6. Risk 5 has been completely removed as the 2018 amendment regulations have 
been implemented. 
 

  
 
 

 
91 Agenda Item 11



 
 

Identified Risks of Concern 
 

7. There are currently no identified risks of concern. 
 

 
Assurance framework for the LGPS Central asset pooling 

 
8. The Governance structure and arrangements for LGPS central have been 

established and were reported to Committee in November 18.  In summary  
Staffordshire County Council Internal Audit Service is leading a co-ordinated and 
collaborative response to these new arrangements. This has involved consultation 
with all Partner Fund’s internal audit functions (including Leicestershire County 
Council), External Audit Partners, the Practitioners Advisory Forum and LGPS 
Central. 
 

9. Since that time: 
a. Audit work to be completed either by individual Partner Funds’ internal audit 

functions, or collectively has been determined.  
b. Leicestershire internal auditors have agreed to undertake work jointly with 

Nottinghamshire County Council.  The area selected is around Financial and 
Operational risks.  Work will be undertaken on two key objectives as follows: 

 Budget for LGPS Central is set and approved annually and assurance 
is provided that financial management systems are robust. 

 Assumptions regarding costs and savings are robust and supported 
by appropriate modelling which is regularly reviewed. 

c. The format of assurance documents and audit programmes have been 
shared with individual Partner Funds’ internal audit functions to ensure 
consistency in approach. 

 
10. The next steps are to: - 

a. Commence work individually, this quarter, on areas determined since the last 
update. 

b. Develop an information sharing portal. 
 
Recommendation 
 

11. The Local Pension Committee is asked to: - 
a. approve the revised risk register of the Pension Fund 
b. note the work being done to develop an assurance framework for the LGPS 

Central   
 
 
Appendix 
 

12. Risk Register 
 
 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

13. None. 
 
 

92



 
 

Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk  

93



This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire Pension Fund Risk Register February 2019 

Risk 
no 

Service Risk Causes (s) Consequences 
Risk 

Owner 
List of current 

controls 
I L 

 
Current 

Risk 
Score 

Risk 

Response; 

Tolerate 

Treat 

Terminate 

Transfer 

Further Actions / 
Additional Controls 

I L 
Residual 

Risk 
Score 

 
 
Action 
owner 

1 Pens 

 If we fail to reconcile 

HRMC GMP data with 

the Pension Section 

data there is a risk of 

overpayment of 

Pensions Increase 

 

Government changes to end 

contracting out legislation. 

Contracting out ended April 

2016. Between 2015 and 

December 2018 Pensions 

need to reconcile GMP data. 

From 2018 we take 

responsibility for GMPs so 

we need to ensure we pay 

Pensions Increase. (e.g. no 

GMP means we pay full PI 

and if there is a GMP we pay 

less PI)  

 

Overpaying 

pensions 

Reputation 

Ian 

Howe 

 

Checking of HMRC 

GMP data to identify 

any discrepancies  

 

Full time person 

recruited to work on 

the project 

3 3 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Treat 

Working through cases 

Developed reporting 

tools to assist 

 

3 2 6 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Ian 

Howe 

 
 
 

 

2 Pens 

 

 If we fail to implement 

a pension 

administration system, 

pensioner payroll and 

immediate payments 

system the Pension 

Section will fail to 

deliver its statutory 

duties for both LGPS 

and the 3 Fire 

Authorities. It will also 

be unable to pay 

pensioners and other 

single payments (e.g. 

lump sums) 

The current pensions 
administration system 
contract ends in April 2019 

Failure of the 
Pension Section 
 
Unable to pay 
pensioners 
 
Unable to pay single 
payments 
 
Unable to meet 
statutory 
requirements 
 
Manual calculations 
 
Huge increase in 
administration time 
causing delays 
 
Increased appeals 

Ian 

Howe 

 

Currently use a 

successful pension 

administration system 

Currently use a 

separate member self-

service facility, 

pensioner payroll and 

immediate payments 

system. 

Working in 

partnership with 

another Fund 

Project Manager and 

governance 

arrangements in place 

First phase of the 

project completed 

5 2 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

 

Detailed project 

planning 

System training for 

Payroll and Pension 

colleagues  

Guidance notes 

provided by the system 

provider 

5 1 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ian 

Howe 

 

95



successfully. This 

entailed transferring 

the system to the 

provider’s hosted 

service and the 1st 

payroll run.. 

3 Pens 

 If we fail to meet the  

service requirements of 

the three Fire 

Authorities we may lose 

their business 

 

 

Changes in legislation on the 

Firefighters pension scheme 

has significantly increased 

the scheme’s complexity. 

Only limited knowledge in 

the Section in this area.  

Outstanding legal challenges 

could significantly impact on 

the Fire scheme rules and 

administration time 

 

 

 

 

 

Reputation 

 

Potential loss of 

business  

Increased 

administration  

 

Ian 

Howe 

 

Quarterly meetings 

take place with the 

Fire Authorities to 

resolve issues  

 

Membership of the 

Midlands Fire Officer 

Group enables us to 

identify and resolve 

issues early  

Resource on the team 

increased 

SLA and contracts 

produced 

4 3 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

Continue to monitor and 

develop improvements 

to work processes, 

guiding all three Fire 

Authorities to similar 

processes and decisions 

(where possible). 

Set up a joint pension 

board for the 3 Fire 

Authorities 

Refresh of contracts in 

progress 

Press the LGA and all 

relevant parties 

nationally  on regulatory 

changes 

3 3 9 

 
 

 

 

 

Ian 

Howe 

 
 
 
 

 

4 Pens 

If we fail to receive 

accurate and timely 

data from employers 

scheme members 

pension benefits could 

be incorrect or late  

A continuing increase in 

Fund employers is causing 

administrative pressure in 

the Pension Section. This is 

in terms of receiving 

accurate and timely data 

from these new employers 

who have little or no pension 

knowledge 

Late or inaccurate 

pension benefits to 

scheme members 

Reputation 

Increased appeals 

Greater 

administrative time 

being spent on 

individual 

calculations 

Ian 

Howe 

Training provided for 

new employers 

Guidance notes 

provided for 

employers 

Amended  SLA and 

communication and 

administration guide 

distributed to 

employers making   

IConnect  a statutory 

requirement by 

31/3/2020) 

 

 

3 3 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

Implement IConnect 

with employers so they 

provide monthly data in 

a secure and timely 

manner 

 

3 2 6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ian 
Howe 

96



5 

 
 
 
 
Invs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If employer and 

employee contributions 

are not paid accurately 

and on time 

 

Error on the part of the 

scheme employer 

 

Potentially 

reportable to The 

Pensions Regulator 

as late payment is a 

breach of The 

Pensions Act 

 

Declan 

Keegan 

 

Receipt of 

contributions is 

monitored and late 

payments are chased 

quickly 

 

 

2 4 8 

 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

Late payers will be 

reminded of their legal 

responsibilities. 
2 3 6 

 
 

 
Declan 

Keegan 

 

6 Invs 

If assets held by the 

Fund are ultimately 

insufficient to pay 

benefits due to 

individual members 

Ineffective setting of 

employer contribution rates 

over many consecutive 

actuarial valuations 

 

Significant financial 

impact on scheme 

employers due to 

the need for large 

increases in 

employer 

contribution rates.  

 

Chris 

Tambini 

 

 

Input into actuarial 

valuation, including 

ensuring that actuarial 

assumptions are 

reasonable and the 

manner in which 

employer contribution 

rates are set does not 

bring imprudent 

future financial risk 

 

 

5 2 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

Actuarial assumptions 

need to include an 

element of prudence, 

and Officers need to 

understand the long-

term impact and risks 

involved with taking 

short-term views to 

artificially manage 

employer contribution 

rates.  The 2019 

valuation will assess the 

contribution rates. 

 

4 2 8 

 
 

 
 
 
Chris 

Tambini 

 

7 
Pens/I
nvs 

Sub-funds of individual 

employers are not 

monitored to ensure 

that there is the correct 

balance between risks 

to the Fund and fair 

treatment of the 

employer 

Changing financial position 

of both sub-fund and the 

employer 

 

 

Significant financial 

impact on 

employing bodies 

due to need for 

large increases in 

employer 

contribution rates. 

Risk to the Fund of 

insolvency of an 

individual employer. 

This will ultimately 

increase the deficit 

of all other 

employers.  

 

Ian 

Howe/ 

Declan 

Keegan 

 

Ensuring, as far as 

possible, that the 

financial position of 

each employer is 

understood. On-going 

dialogue with them to 

ensure that the 

correct balance 

between risks and fair 

treatment continues. 

 

5 2 10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

Dialogue with the 

employers, particularly 

in the lead up to the 

setting of new employer 

contribution rates. 

Include employer risk 

profiling as part of the 

Funding Strategy 

Statement update. To 

allow better targeting of 

default risks 

Investigate 

arrangements to de-risk 

funding arrangements 

for individual employers. 

Consult with all Fund 

3 2 6 

 
 

 
 
 
Ian 

Howe/ 

Declan 

Keegan 

 

97



employers 

Amend the Funding 

Strategy Statement  

8 Invs 

If market investment 

returns are consistently 

poor and this causes 

significant upward 

pressure onto employer 

contribution rates 

Poor market returns, most 

probably caused by poor 

economic conditions 

Significant financial 

impact on 

employing bodies 

due to the need for 

large increases in 

employer 

contribution rates 

Chris 

Tambini 

Ensuring that strategic 

asset allocation is 

considered at least 

annually, and that the 

medium-term outlook 

for different asset 

classes is included as 

part of the 

consideration 

5 2 10 

 
 
 
Treat 

Making sure that the 

investment strategy is 

sufficiently flexible to 

take account of 

opportunities and risks 

that arise, but is still 

based on a reasonable 

medium-term 

assessment of future 

returns 

4 2 8 

 
Chris 

Tambini 

 

9 Invs 

If market returns are 

acceptable but the 

performance achieved 

by the Fund is below 

reasonable 

expectations 

Poor performance of 

individual managers, or poor 

asset allocation policy 

Opportunity cost in 

terms of lost 

investment returns, 

which is possible 

even if actual 

returns are higher 

than those allowed 

for within the 

actuarial valuation 

Chris 

Tambini 

Ensuring that the 

causes of 

underperformance 

are understood and 

acted on where 

appropriate 

3 3 9 

 
 
 
Treat 

After careful 

consideration, take 

decisive action where 

this is deemed 

appropriate. It should be 

recognised that some 

managers have a style-

bias and that poor 

performance will 

happen on occasions. 

2 2 4 

 
Chris 

Tambini 

10 Invs 

Failure to take account 

of ALL risks to future 

investment returns 

within the setting of 

asset allocation policy 

and/or the 

appointment of 

investment managers 

Some assets classes or 

individual investments 

perform poorly as a result of 

incorrect assessment of all 

risks inherent within the 

investment. 

Opportunity cost 

within investment 

returns, and 

potential for actual 

returns to be low. 

This will lead to 

higher employer 

contribution rates 

than would 

otherwise have 

been necessary. 

Chris 

Tambini 

Ensuring that all 

factors that may 

impact onto 

investment returns 

are taken into account 

when setting asset 

allocation policy. Only 

appointing investment 

managers that 

integrate responsible 

investment into their 

processes, and 

ensuring that 

managers take a 

holistic view on the 

risks associated with 

the investments they 

make on behalf of the 

3 3 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

Responsible investment  
aims to incorporate 

environmental, social 

and governance (ESG) 

factors into investment 

decisions, to better 

manage risk and 

generate sustainable, 

long-term returns 

Annual refresh of the 

Fund’s asset allocation 

allows an up to date 

view of risks to be 

incorporated and avoids 

significant sort term 

changes to the 

allocation. 

2 2 4 

 

 

 

 

Chris 

Tambini 

98



 

 

Fund. 

11 Invs 

Investment pooling 

within the LGPS fails to 

deliver a higher long 

term net investment 

return 

LGPS Central fails to deliver 

better net investment 

returns than the Fund would 

have expected to achieve it 

investment pooling did not 

occur 

Lower returns will 

ultimately lead to 

higher employer 

contribution rates 

than would 

otherwise have 

been the case 

Chris 

Tambini 

Shareholders’ Forum, 

Joint Committee and 

Practitioners’ Advisory 

Forum will give   

significant influence in 

the event of issues 

arising. 

3 3 9 

 
 
 
 
 
Treat 

The set-up of LGPS 

Central is likely to be the 

most difficult phase. The 

Fund will continue to 

monitor closely how the 

company evolves 

Programme of LGPS 

Central internal activity 

activity, which has been 

designed in 

collaboration with the 

audit functions of the 

partner funds. 

2 2 4 

 

 

Chris 

Tambini 

12 Invs 

Investment decisions 

are made without 

having sufficient 

expertise to properly 

assess the risks and 

potential returns  

The combination of 

knowledge at Committee, 

Officer and Consultant level 

is not sufficiently high 

Poor decisions likely 

to lead to low 

returns and higher 

employer 

contribution rates 

Chris 

Tambini 

Continuing focus on 

ensuring that there is 

sufficient expertise to 

be able to make 

thoughtfully 

considered 

investment decisions  

3 3 9 

 
 
 
 
Treat 

On-going process of 

updating and improving 

the knowledge of 

everybody involved in 

the decision-making 

process 

2 2 4 

 

 

Chris 

Tambini 

13 Invs 

The transition of 

investment assets to 

LGPS Central is not 

successful 

Pooling does not reduce the 

on-going management costs 

of assets 

Transition costs are 

significantly higher, for 

example the cost of selling 

the existing investments and 

buying new ones.  

Savings available do 

not justify the 

transition costs and 

on-going cost of 

running LGPS 

Central 

Chris 

Tambini 

Central maintains the 

flexibility to run funds 

internally. 

Specialist transition 

manager being 

appointed. 

Implementation being 

phased, allowing 

capacity to be 

managed and lessons 

learned 

2 3 6 Treat 

Advisors engaged to 

assess the impact upon 

Leicestershire’s assets. 

Views from 8 partners 

sought throughout the 

transition process.  

Central increasing the 

level of engagement 

with Funds 

LGPS Central’s Internal 

Audit plan includes an 

assessment of the 

governance surrounding 

the transition 

2 2 4 

Chris 

Tambini 

99



Risk Impact Measurement Criteria 
 

Scale Description 
Departmental Service 

Plan Internal                   Operations  People Reputation 
Financial                          

per annum / per loss 

1 Negligible 
Little impact to objectives 
in service plan 

Limited disruption to operations and 
service quality satisfactory 

Minor injuries 
Public concern 
restricted to local 
complaints 

Pension Section 
  <£50k 
Investments 

Losses expected to be 
recovered in the short 
term 

2 Minor 
Minor impact to service as 
objectives in service plan 
are not met 

Short term disruption to operations 
resulting in a minor adverse impact 
on partnerships and minimal 
reduction in service quality. 

Minor Injury to  those 
in the Council’s care 

Minor adverse local / 
public / media 
attention and 
complaints 

Pension Section 
£50k-£250k Minimal 
effect on budget/cost 

Investments 
Some 
underperformance, but 
within the bounds of 
normal market volatility 

3 Moderate 
Considerable fall in 
service as objectives in 
service plan are not met 

Sustained moderate level disruption 
to operations / Relevant partnership 
relationships strained / Service 
quality not satisfactory 

Potential  for minor 
physical injuries / 
Stressful experience 

Adverse local media 
public attention 

Pension Section 
£250k - £500k Small 
increase on 
budget/cost: Handled 
within the team/service 

 
Investment 

Underperformance by a 
manager requiring 
review by the 
Investment Sub-
committee 

4 Major 
Major impact to services 
as objectives in service 
plan are not met.  

Serious disruption to operations with 
relationships in major partnerships 
affected / Service quality not 
acceptable with adverse impact on 
front line services. Significant 
disruption of core activities. Key 
targets missed. 

Exposure to 
dangerous conditions 
creating potential for 
serious physical or 
mental harm 

Serious negative 
regional criticism, with 
some national 
coverage 

Pension Section 
£500-£750k. Significant 
increase in budget/cost. 
Service budgets 
exceeded 

 
Investment 

Underperformance of 
significant proportion of 
assets leading to a 
review of the 
Investment or Funding 
strategy 

100



5 
Very 
High/Critical 

Significant fall/failure in 
service as objectives in 
service plan are not met 

Long term serious interruption to 
operations / Major partnerships under 
threat / Service quality not acceptable 
with impact on front line services 

Exposure to 
dangerous conditions 
leading to potential 
loss of life or 
permanent 
physical/mental 
damage. Life 
threatening or multiple 
serious injuries 

Prolonged regional 
and national 
condemnation, with 
serious damage to the 
reputation of the 
organisation i.e. front-
page headlines, TV. 
Possible criminal, or 
high profile, civil 
action against the 
Council/Fund, 
members or officers 

Pension Section 
>£750k Large increase 
on budget/cost. 

 
Investment 

Employer contributions 
expect to increase  
significantly above 
Funding Strategy 
requirement 

 
 

Risk Likelihood Measurement Criteria 
 
 

Rating Scale Likelihood Example of Loss/Event Frequency Probability % 

1 Very rare/unlikely EXCEPTIONAL event. This will probably 
never happen/recur. 

<20% 

2 Unlikely Event NOT EXPECTED. Do not expect it 
to happen/recur, but it is possible it may do 

so. 

20-40% 

3 Possible LITTLE LIKELIHOOD of event occurring. It 
might happen or recur occasionally. 

40-60% 

4 Probable  /Likely Event is MORE THAN LIKELY to occur. 
Will probably happen/recur, but it is not a 

persisting issue. 

60-80% 

5 Almost Certain Reasonable to expect that the event WILL 
undoubtedly happen/recur, possibly 

frequently. 

>80% 

 
 
 

 

101



Risk Scoring Matrix 
        

          

 
Impact 

        

 

5                                    
   Very High/Critical 5 10 15 20 25 

   

 
4  Major 4 8 12 16 20 

   

 
3  Moderate 3 6 9 12 15 

   

 
2   Minor 2 4 6 8 10 

   

 
1 Negligible 1 2 3 4 5 

   

  
1 2 3 4 5 

   

  
Very Rare/Unlikely Unlikely     Possible/Likely 

        Probable/ 
Likely    Almost certain 

   

      
Likelihood*  

       
 

*(Likelihood of risk occurring  

over lifetime of objective (i.e. 12 mths) 

 
 

 

102



 

 

 

www.kamescapital.com 

Leicestershire County 
Council Pension Fund 
Q4 2018 – Market Report 
 
 

 

103 Agenda Item 12



 

page 2 

Contents 

Historic Returns for World Markets 3 

Market Review 4 

Key Market Movements 7 

Quarterly Thought Piece 9 

 
 

104



 

page 3 

Historic Returns for World Markets 
 Q4 1 year 3 years 

FTSE WGBI Non-GBP TR 4.31 5.61 8.03 

FTSE 100 TR -9.64 -8.73 6.75 

FTSE 350 TR -10.25 -9.47 6.09 

FTSE Actuaries UK Idx-Linked Gilts All Stocks TR GBP 1.87 -0.28 8.26 

FTSE Actuaries UK Conven Gilts All Stocks TR GBP 1.92 0.57 4.08 

FTSE Actuaries UK Conven Gilts Over 15 Y TR GBP 2.55 0.28 7.07 

FTSE All-Share TR -10.25 -9.47 6.12 

FTSE Japan TR -12.42 -7.58 9.06 

FTSE Small Cap TR -10.35 -9.52 6.90 

FTSE World Europe ex UK TR GBP -10.90 -9.45 8.39 

FTSE World ex UK TR GBP -10.96 -2.68 12.91 

LIBID GBP 7 Day 0.18 0.58 0.42 

Markit iBoxx Sterling Non Gilts Overall TR 0.14 -1.51 4.36 

MSCI EM (Emerging Markets) TR GBP -5.19 -8.92 15.11 

MSCI Pacific ex Japan TR GBP -5.70 -4.61 12.25 

S&P 500 TR -11.45 1.56 14.69 

Commodities -9.96 -12.99 -0.79 

£ Trade Weighted Index -1.48 -1.46 -5.21 

 

 Q4  1 year  3 years  

Euro 0.77 1.11 6.78 

Japanese Yen 6.00 9.06 8.25 

US Dollar 2.39 6.21 4.98 

 

All returns are in %, GBP currency, and returns over 1 year are annualised. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

105



 

page 4 

Market Review 

UK equities 

The FTSE All-Share fell by -10.25% over the fourth quarter and finished 2018 down -9.47%. In size terms all 

areas of the market declined although large-cap companies (the FTSE 100 was down -9.64%) fared better 

than their small (FTSE Small Cap; -12.07%) and mid-cap (FTSE 250; -13.32%) counterparts. 

Similar to other regional markets, UK equities were hit hard by fears about a slowdown in the global economy. 

The monetary tightening backdrop (particularly in the US), as well as the ongoing ‘trade war’ between the US 

and China, proved to be enough to ensure equity markets had one of their worst quarters in a number of 

years; the FTSE All-Share’s performance was the worst since quarter three of 2011.  

The UK, however, also had to contend with a marked increase in concerns about the potential for a ‘no-deal’ 

outcome from the UK government’s Brexit negotiations (a parliamentary vote on Prime Minister May’s deal will 

take place mid-January). Concern about the political backdrop fed through to market returns with companies 

that are more exposed to the UK domestic economy, which tend to be small and mid-cap in stature, suffering 

more than larger companies with exposure to overseas earnings. Many of the more defensive sectors 

performed well including telecoms, beverages, pharmaceuticals and utilities. Tobacco and cyclicals sectors 

including aerospace, chemicals, general industrials, oil equipment & services and retailers underperformed.  

US equities 

US equities came under significant pressure over the fourth quarter of 2018, with the S&P 500 index returning 

-11.45%. The blame for the decline was attributed to a deteriorating growth outlook, increased geopolitical 

challenges (driven by populist pressures) and higher US cash yields. Poor as the equity markets were, they 

were nothing compared to the slump in oil prices which tumbled nearly 40% over the quarter on concerns 

related to increasing supply and faltering demand.  

The US Federal Reserve raised rates in December (to 2.5%) but was more cautious in its tone as it looked 

towards 2019. Although monetary policy continues to tighten in the US, it remains broadly accommodative. 

Inflation everywhere appears contained with 2019 forecasts at, or below, policy targets. 

The risk-averse backdrop, and particularly the ongoing dispute with China, was highlighted in sector returns. 

The dramatic fall in the oil price hampered the performance of resource-related sectors. The technology 

sector, meanwhile, was hit by a number of profit warnings (including Apple), which was largely due to weaker 

demand from China. Defensive sectors performed better but were not immune to the general sell-off.      

European equities 

The FTSE World Europe (ex UK) index fell -10.90% in the fourth quarter to finish what was a dismal year for 

global equity markets in general. Geopolitical challenges as well as the monetary tightening backdrop 

(particularly in the US) weighed heavily on the market. Fears about a slowdown in global growth, which were 

not helped by the ongoing ‘trade war’ between the US and China also contributed to the weak backdrop. 

Closer to home, France continue to struggle with protests while the ongoing Italian political crisis, and 

particularly the health of the country’s banks, also concerned investors. 

In sector terms, defensive areas of the market such as utilities performed relatively well, while autos suffered 

due to slower demand. Towards the end of the quarter, the European Central Bank ended its quantitative 

easing programme, as expected, and also restated that interest rates would remain on hold for most of 2019.        

Japanese equities 

The Japanese equity market fell heavily in the fourth quarter of 2018 with the FTSE Japan index falling -

12.42% in sterling terms (-17.38% in yen). Only five quarters since 1973 have delivered a poorer return and 

none since the Global Financial Crisis. At around -10.00% (yen terms) the market return in December was the 

worst December on record.  

 

 

106



 

page 5 

The backdrop was driven by growing concerns around the outlook for the global economy resulting from 

tighter monetary conditions (attributable mainly to higher US short-term interest rates and widening credit 

spreads) and rising geopolitical risks (for which President Trump is mainly responsible). Japan is famously a 

trading nation and US moves to alter global trading relationships quickly become a problem. Another specific 

worry was associated with a weakening Chinese economy; in the most recent data, Japanese exports to 

China fell by 5.8%.  

Unsurprisingly, given deteriorating sentiment, growth and momentum strategies underperformed. More 

successful tilts included defensive approaches including ‘value’, ‘minimum-risk’ and ‘higher yield’. 

At a sector level, utilities performed well. The sector is often ignored by investors looking to grow their capital 

but when markets are falling, ‘boring’ quickly becomes an attractive feature. For similar reasons, real estate 

stocks also generally outperformed. The energy sector was among the weaker sectors as it was hit by 

demand concerns and a 40% decline in the oil price. 

Asia (ex-Japan) equities 

The MSCI Pacific ex Japan index fell -5.70% in sterling terms over the fourth quarter of 2018. While this was a 

significant decline, the region nonetheless outperformed other regional markets. 

Among the weaker countries in the region were those that are more focused on exports, such as South Korea 

and Taiwan. Both countries were hampered by the steep falls seen in the technology sector. China also came 

under pressure as growth slowed despite efforts by the government to support the economy. One of the main 

drivers of the gloomy backdrop was the ongoing ‘trade war’ between the US and China which, combined with 

the US Federal Reserve’s US monetary tightening policy, led to increased concern among investors regarding 

the strength of the global economy. 

In other areas, Hong Kong performed slightly better than many of its neighbours although it still fell over the 

period. Indonesia and the Philippines actually moved slightly higher with both countries benefiting from the 

lower oil price, given their dependence on importing oil.    

 

  

107



 

page 6 

Fixed Income  

Rates 

Core government bond yields fell materially during the fourth quarter of 2018, with US, UK, German, and 

Japanese bond yields all finishing lower. This was a reversal from an environment of steadily rising yields 

seen in the previous quarter. Much of this can be attributed to investor fears that the US economy was slowing 

faster than anticipated due to a combination of tighter financial conditions and the negative impact of trade 

tariffs.  

The quarter began with expectations of a Fed rate hike in December and at least 2 more to follow in 2019. By 

the end of the period the December hike was delivered but the shift in sentiment meant expectations of further 

hikes in 2019 were all but gone. This change in the macro outlook weighed heavily on risky assets with a 

major sell-off in global equity markets prompting a flight-to-quality into rates markets.  

Beginning in October and continuing through all of the fourth quarter, equity markets fell sharply, which in turn 

helped government bonds to rally as a ‘lifeboat’ for equity investors. Inflation remains under control, with falling 

oil prices and softening macroeconomic data suggesting inflationary pressure will be muted in the coming 

months. 

 

10-year yield movements in core and European periphery benchmark bonds 

 Core government bonds Peripheral Europe 

Country UK US Germany Japan Spain Italy Greece Ireland Portugal 

Yield as at end September 2018 1.57 3.06 0.47 0.13 1.50 3.15 4.18 1.00 1.88 

Yield as at end December 2018 1.28 2.68 0.24 0.00 1.42 2.74 4.40 0.90 1.72 

Change in yield -0.29 -0.38 -0.23 -0.13 -0.08 -0.41 0.22 -0.10 -0.16 

 

Credit 

The fourth quarter saw a marked widening in credit spreads across all parts of the corporate bond market. 

Increased uncertainty about the global macroeconomic outlook, especially in the US, prompted a bout of 

weakness in all risky assets, including corporate bonds. In the UK, Brexit concerns increased significantly 

which added additional pressure on the corporate bond market as investors sought a larger premium to hold 

UK assets.  

High yield bonds underperformed relative to investment grade bonds, as they were most affected by risk-off 

sentiment. This was despite a fall in supply – there was no US high yield issuance at all in December.  

From a sectoral perspective, falling oil prices hurt oil & gas sector issuers, whilst bonds from insurance 

companies remained one of the worst performing areas of the market. In an overall weak market, 

collateralised debt and sub-sovereign issuers were among the better relative performers. 

  

108



 

page 7 

Key Market Movements 
The following charts provide a pictorial summary of key market movements during the six month period to end 

of 31 December 2018. 

Global Equities (FTSE World Price Index) 

 

Long Gilts (UK 30 year gilt) 

 

440

460

480

500

520

540

560

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

F
T

S
E

 W
o
rl
d
 (

lo
c
a
l)
 -

P
ri
c
e
 I
n
d

e
x

Global equities corrected sharply, 
driven by US monetary policy and fears 
of a slowing global economy. Softening 
data in China and concerns about 
trade tensions between China and the 

US led to ‘risk-off’ sentiment. 

Gains driven by US equities where slowly 
tightening monetary policy has not stifled 
growth.
A strong dollar and trade tarrifs, however, 
have put pressure on emerging markets.
European and Japanese markets also up 
although Brexit uncertainty continues to 
subdue the UK market.   

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

2

2.1

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

U
K

 3
0
 Y

e
a
r 

G
ilt

 B
e

n
c
h

m
a
rk

 (
%

 y
ie

ld
)

The Banks of England raised rates in August  
to 0.75%, which is the highest rate since the 
end of the 2008 financial crisis. It appears to 
be a signal that the BoE is confident the 
economy has healed sufficiently to sustain a 
gradual rate hike path. Government bond 
yields increased as a result, with longer-
dated bonds (over 15-years) experiencing 
the largest moves.  

Initially, a significant supply 
event led to volatility although 
long gilts subsequently rallied in 
the general risk-off 
environment.

109



 

page 8 

Oil Price (Crude Oil Spot WTI Cushing ($ per barrel)) 

 

UK Sterling (UK Sterling Trade Weighted Index) 

 

 

Source:  Datastream 

  

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

75

80

85

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

C
ru

d
e
 O

il 
S

p
o
t 

W
T

I 
C

u
s
in

g
 (

$
 p

e
r 

b
a
rr

e
l)

Over the quarter Brent crude oil prices 
increased above $80 per barrel. At the start of 
the third quarter oil prices experienced some 
headwind as Libya oil production returned to 
the market and Saudi Arabia hinted they 
would step in to fill the potential gap caused 
by the renewed sanctions around Iranian 
crude. But in the second half of the quarter an 
acceleration in oil inventories draws and 
increasing worries around replacement of 
Iranian oil supply caused prices to rise 
sharply.

In the last quarter of 2018 the oil market was hit by a 
perfect storm. On both the supply and the demand side 
negative headlines pushed prices lower. At the start of 
October Iran sanctions on oil exports were waived for 
eight countries. Simultaneously Saudi Arabia boosted 
production to anticipate for the shortage that should have 
emerged because of these sanctions. US shale 
production also surprised on the upside. These three 
factors caused an oversupply in the market. On top of 
that, the economic growth forecast for 2019 started to be 
downgraded, which also negatively impacted the demand 
expectations for oil. All this combined has caused a huge 
sell-off in oil prices in Q4, with Brent crude prices 
dropping from its peak of over $85 at the start of the 
fourth quarter to ending the year below $55 per barrel.

75

76

77

78

79

80

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

U
K

 S
te

rl
in

g
 T

ra
d
e

 W
e

ig
h
te

d
 I
n
d

e
x

Sterling (TWI) was more a less flat over the
quarter as better UK economic data and a rise in 
base rates helped offset deepening worries 
around Brexit. The Pound has found a level that 
is an unstable balance between the (adverse) 
consequences of a ‘no-deal’ Brexit and a (relief-
inducing) ‘eleventh hour’ compromise deal. The 
stability of £, even as the relationship between 
UK and EU leaderships becomes more 
acrimonious, suggests investors are confident 
that a middle-ground will be found.

Sterling on a trade-weighted basis fell over the quarter. Brexit 
developments remained the main factor influencing GBP over 
the quarter. At the beginning of the quarter sterling was 
supported by the news that suggested a withdrawal 
agreement could be drafted in provisional form in time for the 
EU leaders summit, however the summit highlighted the 
threat of a no deal Brexit, causing GBP to slide. Through 
November sterling was initially supported by a hawkish BoE 
and positive Brexit sentiment, but following several cabinet 
resignations the currency fell. Into year-end political tensions 
heightened, as PM May delayed a parliamentary vote on her 
Withdrawal Agreement. Following this the Prime Minister 
faced a vote of no confidence, which she survived. 

110



 

page 9 

Quarterly Thought Piece – Brexit:  Planning Mode 

With the UK due to leave the EU at the end of March 2018, assessment of the investment implications of 

Brexit should, by now, have been relatively straight-forward. Unfortunately, with no clarity over the manner of 

our departure, we now have to conduct an exercise in ‘adverse-scenario’ planning.  

Brexit is not like sterling’s ejection from the ERM; the ramifications are likely to prove far-reaching and severe 

economic disruption is a clear possibility. It is a feature of the human spirit to dismiss worst-case scenarios as 

unlikely (or will happen to someone else!). Those tempted into denial would do well to remember that Syria 

welcomed 8.5 million tourists in 2010. Argentina and Turkey didn’t look for surging inflation, a currency slump 

and collapsing demand but they got these nonetheless. 

The nightmare scenario for a UK pension fund includes weak asset returns and domestic stagflation - a 

structural uplift in UK inflation and weak domestic economic activity (which raise the quantum of potential 

scheme liabilities and takes the discount rate lower). In part, this is already taking shape. Measures of longer-

term expected UK inflation are rising even as actual prices are falling. At the same time, gilt yields are 

returning to historic lows and, as I write, global asset markets are experiencing upheaval unrivalled at this time 

of year other than during the Great Depression, WWII, the 1987 crash and the financial crisis of 2008 – bad 

company to keep. The implication is sadly predictable; the already-high cost of hedging a severe Brexit 

outcome is rising. 

Whatever way you look at things, Brexit should lead to a higher level of inflation than would otherwise be the 

case. Higher costs – if wages rise to motivate a domestic workforce into the jobs hitherto apparently taken by 

lower-cost migrant workers or through increases in import prices from probable currency weakness. The 

messier Brexit, the higher the inflation that results.  

Many pension schemes will already have some form of inflation hedging in place and, if these are established 

using overlay structures funded by LIBOR ‘engines’, may already be finding that these ‘engines’ are mis-firing, 

given the difficulties experienced this year. In a messy-Brexit scenario this is likely to continue and will need to 

be monitored. Otherwise funds are advised to hold as much – and as strong - indirect inflation exposure as 

possible through appropriate equities and other similar asset types.  

Long duration nominal investments are hard to justify – beyond a possible spasm lower in yields if / when the 

economic outlook is judged to have deteriorated. They are already expensive (50-year gilt yields are around 

just 1.7%) and are vulnerable to pressure from trend higher inflation. Furthermore, across the globe populist 

pressures continue to build. Jeremy Corbyn is currently the bookies favourite to be our next Prime Minister – a 

lurch into the unknown that will terrify asset markets. In this scenario, pressure to fund higher public spending 

through (much) higher gilt sales will be considerable. A bad Brexit will probably lead to a general election that 

unleashes a protest vote that proves the bookies correct. 

Taking the above together, the temptation to move assets offshore could prove irresistible. However, any 

switch out of UK risk markets is hard. On a range of metrics they appear cheap. Sadly, and as the much-

publicised difficulties of UK retailing attest, apparent value may mask a value trap; hard to sell, hard to hold. 

Overall, Parliament’s failure means that pension funds, and UK business more broadly, are condemned to 

waste scarce resources on efforts to mitigate a range of adverse outcomes. 

Stephen Jones, Chief Investment Officer 

  

111



 

page 10 

Important information 
This communication is directed at professional investment advisors. It should not be distributed to, or relied on, by private 
customers. The information in this document is based on our understanding of the current and historical position of the 
markets. The views expressed should not be interpreted as recommendations or advice. Past performance is not a guide to 
future performance. The value of investments and the income from them may fall as well as rise and is not guaranteed. 
Kames Capital is an Aegon Asset Management company and includes Kames Capital plc (no. SC113505) and Kames 
Capital Management Ltd (no. SC212159). Both are registered in Scotland and have their registered office at Kames House, 
3 Lochside Crescent, Edinburgh, EH12 9SA. Kames Capital Investment Portfolios ICVC is an open-ended investment 
company with variable capital, incorporated in England under the OEIC Regulations. Kames Capital Unit Trust is an 
authorised unit trust. Kames Capital ICVC is an open-ended investment company with variable capital, incorporated in 
Scotland under the OEIC Regulations. Kames Capital plc is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA reference no: 144267). Kames Capital plc provides segregated and retail funds. Kames Capital Management Ltd 
provides investment management services to Aegon, which provides pooled funds, life and pension contracts. Kames 
Capital Management Ltd is an appointed representative of Scottish Equitable plc (no. SC144517), an Aegon company, 
whose registered office is 1 Lochside Crescent, Edinburgh Park, Edinburgh, EH12 9SE (PRA/FCA reference no: 165548). 

112



 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 15 FEBRUARY 2019 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

INVESTMENT SUBCOMMITTEE MEETING DATES 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Local Pension Committee of  the 
meeting dates of the Investment Subcommittee for the period ending 
December 2019. 

 
 Background 
 
2. As administering authority, Leicestershire County Council has responsibility 

for managing the Pension Fund. In order that it can fulfil this responsibility 
effectively, the Local Pension Committee (previously known as the Pension 
Fund Management Board) has been given responsibility for all decisions in 
respect of the Fund.  

 
3. In May 2010 the County Council approved the formation of the Investment 

Subcommittee in order to assist the Pension Fund Management Board (now 

the Local Pension Committee) in pro-actively managing the Fund’s assets. 

The increasing complexity of the Fund’s investment structure had the impact 

that the Committee found it increasingly difficult to act in a suitably pro-active 

manner within the confines of 5 meetings per annum. 

4. The move to the Local Government Pension Scheme investment pooling in 

April 2018 removed the requirement for the Subcommittee to interview and 

select investment managers, it is expected that the other parts of its role will 

remain, including deciding how best to implement certain key strategies once 

approved by the Local Pension Committee. Whilst it is expected that the 

Investment Subcommittee will not meet often, it is considered sensible that it 

should remain in operation should the need arise.  

Future Meeting Dates 

 
5. Below is a list of provisional meeting dates for the Investment Subcommittee 

up until the end of 2019. If there is no business to be transacted the meeting 
will be cancelled. 
 
 
3rd April – 10am 
24th July – 10am 
16th October – 10am 
18th December – 10am 

113 Agenda Item 13



Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee notes the report 

 Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
None specific 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Declan Keegan – Assistant Director - Strategic Finance & Property, Corporate 
Resources 
telephone (0116) 305 7688 
 
Chris Tambini – Director of Corporate Resources 
telephone (0116) 305 6199 
 

 

 

 

114



Document is Restricted

115 Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

129 Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

141 Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

163 Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

177 Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

183 Agenda Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

189 Agenda Item 22
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

195 Agenda Item 23
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

207 Agenda Item 24
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

241 Agenda Item 25
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

273 Agenda Item 26
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

307 Agenda Item 27
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

405 Agenda Item 28
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

411 Agenda Item 29
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2019.
	7 Summary Valuation of Pension Fund Investments and Performance of Individual Managers.
	appendix B -LGPSC Strategic Asset Allocatiopn Q4 18 Issue 4
	Appendix C -Leicestershire Pension Fund - Funding Update Report as at 31 December 2018

	8 Draft Funding Strategy Statement.
	Funding Strategy Statement

	9 Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Consultation - Asset Pooling
	Local Government Pension Scheme -Draft Statutory guidance on asset pooling

	10 LGPS Central Pooling Update.
	11 Risk Management and Internal Controls.
	Risk Register Feb 19 v2

	12 Market Report - For Information
	13 Investment Subcommittee Meeting Dates.
	16 Kempen Capital Management Quarterly Report
	17 Pictet Quarterly Report
	18 Ruffer Quarterly Report
	19 IFM Investors Quarterly Report
	20 JP Morgan Quarterly Report
	21 Kleinwort Quarterly Report
	22 Delaware Investments Quarterly Report
	23 Kames Capital Quarterly Report
	24 Millennium Global Quarterly Report
	25 Ashmore Quarterly Report
	26 Legal and General Investment Manager Quarterly Report
	27 Stafford Timberland Quarterly Report
	28 Aspect Capital Quarterly Report
	29 LaSalle (Formerly Aviva) - Quarterly Report.



